The impact of a delivery option in a physical retail space on shopper likelihood

FanLong Li (Derek)

A thesis submitted to Auckland University of Technology in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Business (MBus)

2019

Faculty of Business and Law Primary supervisor: Dr Megan Phillips Secondary supervisor: Dr Jungkeun Kim

Abstract

Retails stores have grown rapidly in the past few years. And the growing number of technologies which widely used in retail space. It is the subtle changes like online or mobile shopping options to the retail environment that could significantly increase the likelihood of purchase by the consumer. However, this research debate that because of the addition of a technology purchasing option(e.g.service delivery option) made available to the customers in the physical retail stores, it could potentially influence the purchasing situation. In addition, retailers who provide a delivery service in-store may attract more customers and increase sales transactions. This research aims to investigate whether adding a delivery option - as an alternative to customers carrying their purchased goods home - can significantly change the likelihood of shoppers making a purchase.

This research conducts an experiment uses an online survey Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk) to measure and analyse data by using SPSS. The results of the study indicated that with the provision of a delivery service in the physical sector, purchase likelihood marginally increased, however, purchase methods (e.g. taking items after purchase by the shopper, or using a delivery service) are affected significantly. For example, when there is no delivery service option, almost every participant chooses to take items home by themselves and after the delivery services option was provided, a large proportion of participants choose to use the delivery service. In addition, the study indicated that when customers were provided with a delivery service, the perceived value was higher than those without. Perceived risk is similar between those two groups who were providing a delivery service and those who were not providing a delivery service.

Although some of the hypotheses were not supported and were consistent with prior literature, the research is still beneficial to retailers considering delivery services, as this research result shows that delivery services can improve perceived value which is very attractive to customers. Besides, these research results also show that different types of customers have different acceptance levels of a delivery option integrated with a technology device. In addition, this research is also marginally beneficial to other researchers who are interested in studying the effect of a delivery service in the physical sector as it can provide directions and suggestions for future research. This study also provides insight for retailers, in that, providing a delivery service in the physical sector can enhance customers' perceived value and therefore may increase the competitive advantage compared with competitors. However, guaranteeing efficient, timely and safe delivery is also very critical.

Keywords: delivery option; perceived risk; perceived value; attitudes towards technology adoption; purchase likelihood; shopper behaviour; retail environments; retail technology

ABSTRACT				
LIST O	F FIGURES	6		
LIST O	F TABLES	6		
ATTES	TATION OF AUTHORSHIP	7		
ETHICA	AL APPROVAL	8		
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	9		
СНАРТ	ER ONE: INTRODUCTION	10		
1.1.	BACKGROUND	.10		
1.2.	RESEARCH OBJECTIVE	12		
1.3.	RESEARCH QUESTION	.13		
1.4.	Methodology	13		
1.5.	RESEARCH CONTRIBUTIONS	.14		
1.6.	Organization of the Thesis	14		
СНАРТ	ER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	16		
2.1.	Multi-channel and omni-channel service retailing	16		
2.2.	THE ROLE OF TECHNOLOGY IN THE RETAIL SECTOR	.17		
2.3.	. The benefit of delivery service			
2.4.	THE IMPACT OF OVERLOAD OPTIONS ON CONSUMERS BEHAVIOURS	20		
2.5.	FACTORS AFFECT PURCHASE INTENTION ONLINE AND OFF-LINE			
2.6. behav	FACTORS REGARDING DELIVERY SERVICES IMPACT ON CUSTOMERS PURCHASING	.23		
2.7.	FACTORS AFFECT CONSUMER TECHNOLOGY ADOPTION	25		
2.8.	CUSTOMERS' PERCEIVED VALUE OF THE RETAIL SECTOR WITH DELIVERY OPTIONS26			
2.9.	CUSTOMER PERCEIVED RISK IN THE RETAIL SECTOR WITH A DELIVERY OPTION	28		
2.10.	Conclusion	.29		
СНАРТ	ER THREE: RESEARCH MODEL AND HYPOTHESIS	.31		
3.1.	CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND HYPOTHESIS	31		
3.2.	MAIN HYPOTHESIS	.32		
3.2	1 The effect of perceived risk on purchase likelihood	34		
3.2	2 Effect of perceived value on purchase likelihood	35		
3.2	3 Attitude towards technology adoption	37		
CHAPTER FOUR: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY 1				
4.1.	RESEARCH PARTICIPANTS	1		
4.2.	DATA COLLECTION	2		

Table of Contents

4.3.	PARTICIPANTS AND PROCEDURES	2		
4.4.	RESEARCH DESIGN	3		
4.5.	Measurements	4		
4.6.	DATA SCREENING AND CLEANING	6		
4.7.	DATA ANALYSIS	6		
4.8.	Reliability and Validity	7		
4.9.	ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	7		
СНАР	TER FIVE: FINDINGS	9		
5.1.	DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION	9		
5.2.	Reliability Analysis	11		
5.3.	VALIDITY	13		
5.4.	RESEARCH QUESTIONS AND HYPOTHESIS TESTS	15		
5.5.	MEDIATOR ROLE OF PERCEIVED RISK AND PERCEIVED VALUE	17		
5.6.	MODERATOR ROLE OF ADOPTION TECHNOLOGY	21		
5.7.	DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION ANALYSIS	23		
СНАР	TER SIX: DISCUSSION	25		
6.1.	Hypothesis 1	25		
6.2.	Hypothesis 2	26		
6.3.	Hypothesis 3	26		
6.4.	Hypothesis 4	27		
CHAP DIRE(TER SEVEN: LIMITATIONS, IMPLICATIONS, FUTURE RESEARCH CTIONS AND CONCLUSION	29		
7.1.	CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATIONS	29		
7.2.	LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE RESEARCH	31		
REFE	RENCES	33		
APPE	NDIX A ETHICS COMMITTEE (AUTEC)	46		
APPE	APPENDIX B PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET			
RESI	RESEARCHER CONTACT DETAILS:			
Pro.	PROJECT SUPERVISOR CONTACT DETAILS:			
APPE	APPENDIX C (QUESTIONNAIRE)			

List of figures

Figure 1: Delivery option and purchase likelihood conceptual framework	31
Figure 2: The retail channels without delivery option	.33
Figure 3: The retail channels adding purchase delivery option	.33
Figure 4: The mediator role of perceived risk and perceived value conceptual model	.20
Figure 5: The moderator of adoption technology conceptual model	22

List of Tables

Table 1: The impact of different technology development stages on the retail industry.				
	18			
Table 2: Demographic profiles of respondents 1	10			
Table 3: Cronbach Alpha Table 1	12			
Table 4: Result of convergent validity measures	14			
Table 5: Discriminant validity	15			
Table 6:First chi-square analysis 1	16			
Table 7: Second chi-square analysis1	16			
Table 8: respondent's perceived risk responses	17			
Table 9: Respondent's perceived value responses	18			
Table 10: Respondent's responses from scenario two	22			
Table 11: Demographic information analysis	24			

Attestation of Authorship

"I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person, nor material which to a substantial extent has been submitted for the award of any other degree or diploma of a university or other institution of higher learning."

Li FanLong (Derek) 25/05/2019

Ethical Approval

Ethics Approval from the Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee (AUTEC) was granted on 15 November 2018 for a period of three years until 15 November 2021. The AUTEC ethics application number is 18/421. Information regarding ethics approval can be found in the appendix.

Acknowledgements

On the very outset of this thesis, I would like to extend my sincere thanks to thesis advisor Dr Megan Phillip of the Auckland University of Technology. Dr Megan Phillip's suggestions and commends which are very useful and helpful during the completing this research. I would like to say thank you so much with her helping and supporting.

I would also like to thank my second supervisor Dr JungKeun Kim who was involved in the whole thesis especially the research part. Without his active guidance and help, I could not complete this research.

Finally, I must express my very profound gratitude to my parents and my girlfriend for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study and through the process of researching and writing this thesis. This accomplishment would not have been possible without them.

Thank you

Chapter One: Introduction

1.1. Background

The retail space has changed dramatically in the way items are sold and purchased (Roy, Balaji, Sadeque, Nguyen, & Melewar, 2017). Many rising high-tech purchasing options have pushed the retail sector to a new stage of development (Doherty & Ellis-Chadwick, 2010) remarkably changing the way shoppers' purchase products. These new technology options have brought shoppers online shopping, mobile shopping, home-delivery, and delivery anytime anywhere (e.g., Amazon's delivery service to your car). Due to this everchanging retail space, retailers and retail researchers have begun to focus their attention on such technologies and the behaviours that they produce.

Nowadays, customers use a variety of channels in the process of researching products or services in order to choose the best. As Mcgoldrick and Collins (2007) mentioned, it is more convenient for customers to purchase across multiple channels (e.g. internet, store, catalogue) and use more diverse services than traditional purchasing channel. Multichannel retailing provides customers more shopping options, for example, customers can go to a physical store to buy or purchase via the mobile application. In addition, omni-channel retailing enables customers to purchase in a seamless manner across different channels which contains physical, online and mobile (Brynjolfsson, Jeffrey & Rahman, 2013). For example, customers can go to a physical store to trial and use a product, then purchase via the mobile application to take advantage of a delivery service. The technology delivery option can be a fast and efficient delivery service for customers (Niu, 2017). For example, more and more offline retailers start to use a delivery service in China. For instance, JD launched a two-hour delivery service in Beijing, which is called "JD Express Point." Its model is in cooperation with the surrounding community of retail stores, which provide the supply of goods, and then JD uses self-operated and third-party logistics to complete the distribution.

To remain competitive in today's multi-channel business environment, companies need to satisfy customer demand (Mentzer & Williams, 2001). Customers want multiple options available to them in across channels to ensure that they can shop when, how and where they want. Delivery purchasing services, one of the many options available to consumers, has begun to be adapted to the retail sector (Baron, Harris, & Davies, 1996).

With delivery options, customers can buy in-store and have the purchase shipped to their home or buy in-store on their app and take the purchase home with them. If very heavy goods or semi-cooked foods are purchased, the delivery service could guarantee that the purchased goods would be delivered to the home or another place safely, and in a timely manner. For instance, Alibaba Box Maxiansheng home-delivery service, offers "24-hour delivery service" at 25 retail shops in Beijing and Shanghai. Orders can be delivered within 30 minutes providing shoppers with convinience and ease of transport.

As Huang and Oppewal (2006) suggest, a delivery option in a retail store could improve customers' perceived value such as quality of service, fast delivery and reasonable fees. However, some customers hesitate to make an order with delivery option because of the perceived risk in the delivery process. Risks like the traffic conditions, delivery fees, user's expectation and demand can become some of the potential issues between customers and retail owners (Yu, 2009). So the delivery service needs to consider how to make timely, efficient and accurate deliveries. In addition, because of adding a new purchasing option to the retail environment, some customers could potentially suffer from choice overload (Chernev, Böckenholt & Goodman, 2015). According to Schwartz and Ward (2004), it can be difficult for people to make decisions when they are faced with multiple options. For instance, they could delay the decision or make no choice due to uncertain characteristics or the assortment of options offered. Thus, delivery service options can provide benefits and/or drawbacks for customers, and therefore this is an area that needs to be further studied.

This research is going to investigate whether adding a delivery service option via technology devices in a physical retail space can affect purchasing likelihood. This is beneficial for retailers, as with the intensified competition from both online and offline retailers, the wide adoption of technology by society and business and the evolving needs of consumers (shop from anywhere, anytime), retailers are starting to implement more technology and more services to remain competitive and to stay relevant to consumers. However, currently, it is not proven whether the addition of all technology and delivery service options are beneficial to physical retailers. For example, it is not definite whether providing a service option via technology devices can increase sales. Therefore, this is the motivation for the research. And the results can help retailers to improve business strategies to attract more customers and fulfil their demands. The establishment and development of a delivery service option in the physical retail sector

could be a large advantage for retail owners. However, guaranteeing efficient, timely and safe delivery is also very critical.

1.2. Research Objective

Researchers have intensively studied the changes in purchase behaviours influenced by the development of advanced technology (Koufaris, 2002; Li & Zhang, 2002), for example, purchase attitudes and behaviours about online and mobile shopping. Additionally, the factors that affect customers' purchase behaviours in online shopping have also been studied (Han & Kim, 2017; Jarvenpaa, Tractinsky, & Saarinen, 1999; Ma, 2017; To & Sung, 2015). In particular, how the delivery services quality affect customer's online purchasing behaviours have also been fully studied (Rao, Goldsby, Griffis, & Iyengar, 2011).

However, concurrently with the development of technology, and the changing needs of customers' needs and their expectations, it has become important for retail researchers and retail managers to begin to understand how the integration of a physical delivery service via an in-store mobile application can drive purchasing behaviour. Customers are no longer satisfied with long wait times for online shopping delivery. There is an expectation for greater service delivery quality and quicker service time (Ma, 2017). Thus it begins the question: if the delivery option is offered in the physical retail space via a technological device (e.g. a mobile phone), how will the purchase behaviour of shoppers be affected? Hence, the purpose of this study is to investigate the impact of a delivery service option via a mobile application on customer purchasing behaviour in the physical retail space. The objective is to study the effect of delivery services integrated with technologies on customers' purchase behaviours.

This will be beneficial for retailers, as it can help them to understand customers' thoughts and then improve business strategies to attract more customers and fulfil their demands.

Based on the objective of this study, the following research is presented, covering six interrelated areas. First, this research studies the effect of providing a delivery option in a physical store via mobile phone on a customer's purchase likelihood and behaviour. Second, this research investigates whether the delivery option in the physical store has a significant influence on consumers' perceived value. Third, whether the delivery option

in the physical space has a significant influence on consumers' perceived risk. Fourth, how the perceived risk and the perceived value affect the customers' purchasing likelihood and behaviour in the retail space. Fifth, the role of customers' attitudes towards technology relating to a delivery option and customers' purchase behaviour. Lastly, the relationship between the variables of the new delivery option, perceived value, perceived risk, and customers purchasing behaviours.

1.3. Research question

To study both the effect of a delivery service option in the physical retail sector on customers' purchasing behavior and the role of perceived risk, perceived value, and attitudes towards technology adoption, the following questions will be tested:

- 1. How does adding a delivery option via mobile phone to the physical retail space influence shoppers' likelihood and behaviours of purchase in comparison with no delivery option?
- 2. How does perceived risk, perceived value and customers' attitudes toward technology adoption impact on shoppers' likelihood and behaviours when confronted with a delivery purchasing option in the physical retail space.

1.4. Methodology

This research theoretically tests how perceived risk, perceived value and customers' attitudes towards technology adoption impact on shoppers purchase likelihood and behaviours when confronted with a delivery purchasing option, specifically within the physical retail sector. To address the research questions and examine the hypotheses, an experimental research design using an online survey via Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk) has been completed. The overall research design is a 2 (purchase option: with delivery option versus no delivery option) x 2 (purchase intention: purchase versus not purchase) x 2 (purchase method: take items home versus use delivery service) between-subjects design. Actually, the factor of purchase method (take items home versus use delivery service) is based on the chosen of respondents. Two hundred consumers participated in the study and after, SPSS was used to analyse the data. Additionally, frequency test, Chi-square test, ANOVA method and Hayes method were used to test the hypotheses.

1.5. Research contributions

This research will contribute to retailers' understanding as it tested the effect of a delivery service option on customers' purchasing likelihood and behaviour in the physical retail sector with the integration of technology devices. As businesses need to consider providing more convenient services to attract and retain customers, they may need to adopt technological innovations such as mobile applications that assist with ordering, purchasing and delivery. However, at the same time, the costs for adopting that technology and service need to be considered. If retailers were to blindly adopt a new technology without relevant knowledge, they may suffer the adoption cost. In addition, this research contributes to future studies. It provides retail researchers with insights into how a delivery service option impacts shopper purchase likelihood and behaviour, specifically showing that, when a delivery option is added to the physical retailing space customers' perceive this to be valuable which can can take positive effect on customers' purchase behaviour. This is the first known study to focus on the integration of a mobile application service delivery option into the physical retailing space and how it can impact shopper purchasing behaviour.

1.6. Organization of the Thesis

The research is organized into six chapters. First, an introduction presenting the research background, objective, question, and methodology is covered. Secondly, chapter two is the literature review about the role of technology integration into the retail environment and the benefit of a delivery service. Also, the literature review considers how customers' behaviours change when faced with a new purchase option, the factors that affect customers' technology adoption, as well as customers' perceived risk and perceived value in the retail sector with a delivery option.

After this, in Chapter 3, this research created a research model with several hypotheses for testing how customers' purchasing likelihood and behaviours may be influenced by adding a delivery option via mobile phone in the retail sector. This research set up 4 hypotheses. Hypothesis one aimed to test whether providing a delivery option in the physical sector could influence customers' purchase likelihood and behaviour. Hypothesis two aims to test whether the effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood would be mediated by perceived risk. Hypothesis three aimed to test whether the effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood would be mediated by perceived value. Hypothesis four tests whether the level of customers' attitudes towards technology adoption would moderate the impact of a delivery option on purchase likelihood in the physical field via technology devices (e.g. smartphone). The research methodology is in chapter 4. The analysis processing steps and tested results are written in Chapter 5. Chapter 6 focuses on the discussion about how delivery options affects customers purchasing likelihood and behaviours and the underlying reasons and thoughts. Lastly, Chapter 7 consists of the research limitations, implications, future research directions and conclusions.

Chapter Two: Literature review

This chapter will review literature on the role technology plays within the retail environments and its impact on shopper behaviour. This chapter is organized as three sections. The first section draws upon literature from multi-channel and omni-channel service retailing to explain how service motivates customers to purchase, then the review of the retail industry with technology used will be introduced. The second section draws upon literature about the benefit of delivery services and customer purchase behaviour when facing new purchase options. After that, factors regarding the impact of a delivery option on customer purchasing behaviour and factors affecting technology adoption will be reviewed. In the third section, customer perceived risk and perceived value will be studied.

2.1. Multi-channel and omni-channel service retailing

As the development of technology affects people's lives, customers are increasingly using various technological devices to shop anywhere and anytime. The increasing use of mobile devices by customers has resulted in a retail revolution (Avery, Steenburgh, Deighton, & Caravella, 2012). Retailers use technology to adopt multi-channel strategies, then customers use multiple channels to purchase (Dennis, Alamanos, Papagiannidis, &Bourlakis,2016). According to Geyskens, Gielens, and Dekimpe, (2002), multi-channel strategies mean that retailers add new channels and organise them in a variety of ways to improve customer experience. These strategies can be named multi-channel retailing or omni-channel retailing (Beck & Rygl, 2015).

Multi-channel retailing is "the set of activities involved in selling merchandise or services through more than one channel or all widespread channels, whereby the customer cannot trigger channel interaction and/or the retail does not control channel integration" (Beck& Rygl, 2015, p. 174). Therefore, customers cannot control channel integration, but retailers can. The key point of multi-channel retailing is to provide various channels for customers to purchase goods. Multi-channel retailing has both advantages and drawbacks. According to Stem, El-Ansary, Andersso, and Coughlan (1996), multi-channels have benefits for customers and retailers. From the customers' perspective, additional channels mean more convenience, time saving and reliability. For retailers, additional channels enable cost reduction, flexibility and cross-selling.

Further, multi-channel retailing provides benefits for retailers, such as producing more connections with customers (Schramm-Klein, 2003). However, it also involves drawbacks. In the process of adding additional channels, retailers may confuse pricing policies, and brand building between channels, eventually leading to a negative customer experience (Wilding, 2013). An additional drawback stems from diverging customer satisfaction levels across channels (Shih & Venkatesh, 2004). In order to meet increased customers' demands, and to optimize customers' experience, omni-channel retailing has gained attention in many studies.

Omni-channel retail is defined as "the set of activities involved in selling merchandise or services through all widespread channels, whereby the customer can trigger full channel interaction and/or the retailer controls full channel integration" (Beck & Rygl, 2015, p.175). The key point of omni-channel is that it removes boundaries of different sales channels to create a unified and integrated whole. Besides, as Verhoef, Kannan, and Inman (2015) suggested, different channels interact with each other at the same time to improve customers' experience. Omni-channel enables customers to move from one channel to another seamlessly (Rigby, 2011). As customers want to assemble their own purchasing process to optimize shopping experience, retailers have started to adopt different omni-channel retailing strategies which is providing an integrated shopping experience online and offline (Gao, Cui, & Agrawal, 2018).

2.2. The role of technology in the retail sector

The retail industry has continued to develop over decades, started to involve high - tech service or management from early 1990 (Du, 2007). Zheng SuRong (2010) divides the processing of retail technological development into three stages: ancient, contemporary and modern (see Table 1). It shows the integration of technology into the retail environment and the development process of the retail industry.

Development Stage	Features	Technology Effective	Development of Retail industry
Ancient	 Manual technology only, use of some simple and homemade tools. Animals are the main transport tool. 	 Manual-based technology with fewer product variety and numbers. The backwardness of transportation and transport technology could not establish a delivery service. 	• Early Retail shop created.
Contemporary	 The Machine starts to replace labour and mechanize production. Electronic information technology used in the retail industry 	 The mechanized production results in massive product variety and numbers. The electronic information technology affects shopper's behaviour. 	 Build-up of Shopping mall stores, supermarkets and retail chain stores.
Modern	 POS -Point of sale MIS-Management Information system CRM-Customer relationship Management ECR-Efficient consumer response 	 These technology tools help retailers develop their business effectively. 	• Pushed the retail sector to a new stage.
	 Online, mobile, barcode etc. technology widely used in retail industry. Online data, Cloud technology used in the retail sector. 	 Online, mobile, face ID payment is widely used in retail industry. And it results in delivery options becoming becoming a possible purchasing option for customers. Collecting shopper transactions and browsing data, information and payment transaction with technology. 	 Online, mobile stores established. Pushed the retail sector to a new business model which combines offline and online stores.

Table 1: The impact of different technology development stages on the retail industry.

Sources: adopted from the Professor ZhengSuRong research (2010), Scientific view of the Modern retail from Informationized to Intelligentize.

In the 21st century, Internet technology-led information has flourished, and pushed the retail industry into a new stage. Because of growing information technology customers' purchasing options now include online, mobile, and barcode information. New

technology enables retail owners to arrange business more efficiently with monitoring stores, controlling stock, optimization, and autonomy (Porter & Heppelmann, 2014). Technology also supports a new way of connecting with the offline and online stores, and modern retailing enables real-time interaction with purchasers (Gregory, 2015). Because of the technology involved in the retail setting, retailers understand customer demand more easily, and have the capability to establish real value about what customers want and utilize each of these capabilities to make profit for their business (Kim, Li, & Kim, 2015). These capabilities also allow retailers to iteratively develop their business models and create an augmented shopping experience for shoppers. As a result of the additional purchasing options the retail service has developed rapidly in the past few decades. In addition, as the growing of various chain operations and e-commerce, logistic service has also developed rapidly.

2.3. The benefit of delivery service

Physical distribution of goods connects retailers and customers. Mentzer et al. (1989) pointed out that a physical distribution service include three dimensions: the availability of goods, quality of service, and timeliness. Based on this, Binstock et al. (1997) proposed that physical distribution services capture the dimensions of availability of goods, condition of the products delivered, and timeliness. Although the quality dimension of physical distribution services cannot be unified, the importance of it cannot be denied. Physical distribution service quality is a key role in customers' purchase satisfaction and retention (Rao et al. 2011). Also, physical distribution services are crucial to customers in that they can provide time, place and utilities (Grant & Grant, 2006).

Concurrently with the tremendous growth of E-commerce, physical distribution has also developed quickly. The cooperation of E-commerce and physical distribution services enables customers to stay at home and receive the expected products they had purchased. Customers perceive that the physical distribution service quality is extremely high as this is directly linked with the quality of products. In the whole process of successful online retailing, one of the determining factors is logistics service quality (Ma, 2017). Furthermore, excellent logistics services have become a critically important factor to maintain and develop the competitive advantage for online retailers (Yazdanparast, Manuj, & Swartz, 2010). In addition, e-business success is based on the quality of the logistics service provided to their customers (Mentzer & Williams, 2001). The physical

distribution service is not only beneficial to customers, it is also beneficial to retailers. As Thompson, DeSouza, and Gale (1985) indicate a high-quality delivery service is beneficial for any organization, as it can save time and cost, and also allow retailers to increase market share and profitability. Physical distribution service quality plays a significant role in customer satisfaction and company profitability in e-commerce (Rabinovich & Bailey, 2004).

In a normal small retail store, if the store has delivery services, this can be an extremely attractive point to customers. For example, if customers want to get an item quickly but they would not like to go out themselves, they can just call the retail shop that is near their house and get the items promptly delivered. This service reduces the customer's time and effort and can fully satisfy the customer's demand and gain their trust. As Aurier and N' Goala (2010) suggest, that service could be one of the main factors for building a customer's trust and their willingness to purchase again in a retail sector. Therefore, with this service, retailers could have a competitive advantage compared with competitors with no delivery service, and it could increase a retail store's sales and profits.

Mehmood and Najmi (2017) also state that for every organization, the key point to success is satisfying customers. They say that now customers are demanding services that can save their time and effort. Delivery services in a retail space can truly help customers save effort and time. Providing a delivery service in a retail space can satisfy customers and therefore, could lead to increased profits.

2.4. The impact of overload options on consumers behaviours

Past research reviews indicate that decision-makers often make choices by using familiar information (Johnson et al., 2012). When customers are facing a new purchasing option, they could delay their choice or even make no choice (Kim, Yu, Kulik, Shih, & Scully, 2000). This research is arguing that when adding a new purchasing option in a retail space, customers could suffer from choice-overload issues. The concept of choice overload was originally proposed by Jean Buridan, (1982) research, in her research, a donkey cannot decide which to eat when the donkey has to choose between two attractive piles of hay. According to Lewin (1951) and Festinger (1857), the overload attractive options and items but not available at the same time can lead to psychological conflicts.

In an experiment by Iyengar and Lepper (2000), two groups were provided a variety of expensive jams to taste and they were given discount coupons with that they can purchase with lower price. One group was provided six types of jams and the other group was provided 24 types of jams. The results showed that 30% of jams were sold in the first group and only 3% of jams were sold in the second group. The results indicated that too many choices make it difficult for customers to make choices as they will consider "is the next one better than this one?" to make the best decisions. The choice overload and its effect are also been confirmed by other studies. Iyengar and Lepper (2000) found that interviewees tended to choose nothing when they faced too many flavors of jams.

The increased number of purchasing methods could increase customers' purchasing likelihood in a retail space (Kahn & Isen, 1993). Customers feel more freedom to choose their customary products when they are providing more purchasing options (Broniarczyk & Griffin, 2014). However, more choices could lead to negative shopping experience that they may delay or make no choices (Cherney, 2003; Iyengar & Lepper, 2000). Besides, Boatwright & Nunes (2001) also indicated that too many purchasing options would reduce the items selling in retail space. Scholars named the choice of overload effect as the problems of too many choices (Fasolo, Carmeci, & Misuraca, 2009) and over-choice effect (Gourville & Soman, 2005). Miller (1994) indicated that it is psychological conflict to give up an attractive option to choose another. Besides, some scholars define the phenomenon as the overload of attractive options when people hard to choose between two attractive items (Lewin ,1951 & Festinger, 1957). In addition, Lipowski (1970) indicated that customer's psychological conflicts will be too intense to make choices when the number of options increases. Therefore, increased number of options could lead to negative effects on customers' experiences and satisfaction (Broniarczyk, Hoyer, & McAlister, 1998; Iyengar & Lepper, 2000). Furthermore, according to Schwartz (2004), the more options and choices customers have, the less satisfaction they will derive from their decisions.

2.5. Factors affect purchase intention online and off-line

Several pieces of research have studied the factors that affect customers' purchase intention both online and off-line (Tarn, 1999; Swait & Sweeney, 2000; Tam, 2004; Chin & Goh, 2017). According to Ha and Janda (2014), purchase intention online is the consumer's willingness to purchase products using online technology. Further, it has

been suggested that four major factors, social, cultural, personal and psychological can influence customers' behaviours (Schiffman, O'Cass, Paladino, D'Alessandro & Bednall, 2011). Psychological factors have been studied extensively. For example, trust and perceived risk have been found to be two determinants of a buyers' willingness (Jarvenpaa et al., 1999). In addition, customers' value has also been considered as an essential factor in consumer decision making (Dodds, Monroe, & Grewal, 1991; Chang & Wildt, 1994). The effects of service quality, perceived value and customer satisfaction on behavioural intentions have also been studied (Tarn, 1999; Tam, 2004).

According to Edelman (2011), trust is regarded as trust intentions and trustworthiness, and is also a prerequisite of purchasing behaviour. For example, in e-commerce, trust makes customers more confident to trust the website and e-retailers not to share their private information. Trust is also found to be an essential element in online trading (Gao, Wang, Sirgy, & Bird, 2002), and once a trust relationship has developed between customers and retailers, the perceived risk will be reduced. Celik and Yilmaz (2011) found that trust has a positive effect on customers' attitudes in online shopping.

Service quality is found to be a quality to develop a competitive advantage in the retail industry (Brown & Swartz, 1989). Service quality can directly affect customers' satisfaction and then influence customers repurchase decision. Parasuraman and Grewal (2000) indicated that service quality can increase customers' perceived value. In the physical retail space, the quality of retailers service and products can directly affect customers' attitudes in purchase behaviours. In e-commerce, e-service quality is an overall customer assessment and judgement in virtual marketspace (Santos, 2003) and it affects customers purchasing behaviours.

According to Chang and Wildt, (1994) suggested that consumers perceived value has been regarded as a major contributor to purchase intention In addition, perceived value has been proved to be a key driver of customer loyalty and significantly influences customers' satisfaction (Yang & Peterson, 2004). Bauer (1967) stated that perceived risk theory is the key point of understanding consumer behaviours. There is a direct negative relationship between perceived risk and willingness to buy from an e-retailer (Jarvenpaa, Tractinsky, & Vitale, 2000). In the retail environment, retailers who can offer a low level of risk with products or services will have a strong competitive advantage (Mitchell, 1998). The detailed review about perceived value and perceived risk will be interpreted in following sections.

2.6. Factors regarding delivery services impact on customers purchasing behaviour

Delivery service quality is an extremely important part of the retail industry. Delivery service quality is a key role between customer's purchase satisfaction and retention (Rao et al. 2011). Ma (2017) indicated that delivery service quality is one determinant that promotes the success of online retail. Mentzer, Gomes, and Krapfel (1989), proposed that because the object of a delivery service is the customer, it should be reasonable to define the quality of a delivery service from the perspective of customer demand. Mentzer et al.. (1989) proposed that delivery service quality in the retail sector include three dimensions: the availability of goods, quality of service and timeliness.Other research indicated that the criteria of timeliness, availability and condition of products delivered significantly influence purchasing managers' perception of delivery service quality (Bienstock, Mentzer, & Bird, 1997). However, consumers may value the criteria of a physical distribution service quality differently, preferring delivery charges, quality of products, order accuracy and timeliness.

Xia and Monroe (2004) concluded that delivering and servicing cost had a direct influence on customers' satisfaction, perceived value and purchase intention. Consumers may regard shipping fees as overcharging by online retailers (Neuborne, 2001). A survey from Metro Pack's "Research on the Status of E-commerce Logistics Consumers in 2018", found that 62% of consumers purchase products from online shopping because of the free shipping service, 49% of consumers said they are not willing to pay for "standard delivery", 75% of consumers said they would buy more products to get free shipping. According to this survey, the fast and convenient delivery service could be a main factor for customers whether they choose to use the delivery service or not. This survey also found that 70% of online shoppers said they were willing to pay for one-hour delivery, same-day delivery or Sunday delivery for courier services. For example, if customers are receiving same day deliveries then they naturally expect this of other businesses. If not, then the expectation is not there, so therefore there may not be as big an impact. This could also impact willingness to select the delivery option. Also, 44% of consumers said they would try new delivery methods, such as picking up their goods from local stores. Moreover, a survey conducted by Price Waterhouse Coopers (2017) showed that around 46 % of shoppers believe free delivery to be the most critical factor in grocery service with the logistics industry. As Huang and Oppewal (2006) stated, a delivery charge is one determinate of the choice of a purchase channel.

As the fast growing of e-commerce, recent research has shown that purchasing online and waiting delivery at home is becoming the default option. Consumers expect quick and timely delivery after purchasing online. Timely delivery means that the goods are delivered to the customer within a specific time (Wittke, Wittke, Mazur, & Mazur, 2010). For instance, SF Express company's slogan is "delivering the right amount of goods in the right place at the right time." Timely delivery mostly focuses on certain time (King & Penlesky, 1992). For example, Box Ma xiansheng guarantees "24 hours service" and delivery within 30 minutes. This kind of business model could significantly improve customer satisfaction about new purchasing options and attract more new customers in the retail industry. The new purchasing option used by the retail store has become the foremost position of logistics and distribution. This model can reduce delivery time significantly compared with delivery from the company warehouse. For instance, JD (the same as Amazon) created a great management system to improve the timely delivery service in China (Ren & Dong, 2013). In order to deliver on time, JD developed the "211" delivery system, which means that when online customers order before 11:00 am, JD will guarantee delivery by the end of the day. When a customer orders between 11:00 am to 11:00pm, delivery will be by 14:00pm the next day. The "211" delivery system is totally reliant on sophisticated information technology and "physically present" retail store. (Ren & Dong, 2013).

Adding the delivery service option to the retail industry could improve the quality of service for customers. Factors are a quality delivery service and speed of delivery. However, convenience is a more important value factor that positively influences customers (Mehmood & Najmi, 2017). Adding a delivery service option in retail stores significantly promotes convenience as customers can purchase at anytime, anywhere. Consumers only need to purchase goods by phone call or app to organize the delivery service. This allows customers to purchase especially heavy products without having to carry them themselves from the retail store. This saves customers time and increases customers' willingness to purchase. According to Niu (2017), purchasing products with a delivery option from the retail store is a simple operation, which operates the same way as the online shopping purchasing process. Therefore, consumers have multiple purchasing choices as by a adding delivery option consumers can purchase products.

To sum up, this research believes that adding a delivery option in retail stores can have a positive influence on customers' perceived purchasing value. There are four factors: quality of delivery service, speed of delivery, free shipping and convenient purchasing. This research will develop and expand factors impacting on perceived value and perceived risk to measure how they impact on customers purchasing likelihood and behaviours in retail stores.

2.7. Factors affect consumer technology adoption

Technology today is widely used as it is useful and efficient. Technology can not only save labour costs and time, but also can change lifestyles. Technology changes how services are conceived, developed and delivered (Meuter, Bitner, Ostrom, & Brown, 2005). From the service providers' perspective, the use of technology is attractive as it can standardize service delivery, save labour costs and expand the options for delivery (Curran & Meuter, 2005). However, from the perspective of customers, the attitude towards technology adoption is hard to unify as people have different demands and acceptance levels towards it. The cost is significant if the technology is not accepted by customers. Therefore, more and more researchers have begun to study this topic and explore customer perceptions and demands. Some researchers have studied customer's attitudes toward technologies as a method to predict customers' behavioural intentions (Davis, Bagozzi, & Warshaw, 1989; Curran, Meuter, & Surprenant, 2003; Plouffe, Vanderbosch, & Hulland, 2011). Hebert and Benbasat (1994) found supporting evidence for a relationship between attitude and behavioural intention. The factors that affect customers' attitudes towards the use of technology have been studied extensively (Legris, Ingham, & Collerette, 2003; Meuter, Bitner, Ostrom, & Brown, 2005; Blut, Wang, & Schoefer, 2016).

Among the factors that affect customers' attitudes towards the use of technology, perceived usefulness and ease of use have been recognized as the most important factors. According to Davis (1989), perceived usefulness and ease of use are important determinants of technology. Apart from these two factors, convenience and availability also play a significant role in customer satisfaction with technology (Meuter, Ostrom, Roundtree, & Bitner, 2000). Other beneficial factors are saving waiting time, saving costs, as well as fun and enjoyment from using technology.

However, some disadvantages that obstruct people from using new technology also

exist, such as perceived risk, complexity and incompatibility. People intend to minimize expected loss when they make decisions and the expected loss includes time, financial, and psychological factors (Peter & Tarpley Sr, 1975). Based on Ellen, Bearden and Sharma's opinion (1991), the increased perceived risk will reduce the individual's motivation to learn and use self-service technologies. A complicated self-service technology is difficult to operate and this will make it less attractive to customers (Eastlick, 1996). Most people dislike making efforts to learn new things, especially complicated things. In addition to these factors, individual differences also affect an individual's attitude towards use of technology. Individual differences include age, habit, gender, previous experience, education, income, need for interaction, inertia, technology anxiety and so on. Technology anxiety may lead to avoidance of technology use (Parasuraman, 2000). According to Mick and Fournier (1998), technology-based service options could cause anxiety and stress for individuals who are not familiar and comfortable with the use of technologies. In addition, several studies indicate that the younger generation is more easily able to accept new technology. Also, males, a high level of income and education positively impact acceptance of new technologies (Zeithaml & Gilly, 1987; Sim & Koi, 2002). Another factor is whether an individual has a high need of personal interaction, in which case the desire to use self-service technology will be reduced (Meuter et al. 2000).

In conclusion, technology adoption could be affected by many factors. The degree of influence varies from person to person. Along with the development, use of technology is an inevitable trend. Therefore, when a company wants to adopt technology, how to design and manage the new technologies to satisfy different groups of consumers is the most important thing. For this research, the factors affecting customers' attitudes to purchase or not in a physical store by using their mobile phone will be studied.

2.8. Customers' perceived value of the retail sector with delivery options

The definition of perceived value has not been agreed. The most common definition of perceived value is the ratio or trade-off between quality and price (e.g., Chain Store Age,1985; Cravens, Holland, Lamb & Moncrieff, 1988; Monroe, 1991). However, customer perceived value is defined as balancing the overall benefits of a product or service with what the consumer perceives to be the cost of acquiring the product or services (Zeithaml, 1988). It is a trade-off between "give" and "get" components.

Normally, price is often regarded as the key measure to represent the cost to obtain the service or product, however, according to Lovelock (2001), non-monetary costs such as effort and time are considered as costs to obtain the service or products. For previous research on perceived value, Zeithaml's definition has been the most common basis.

Customer perceived value is an important factor in marketing activity. Customer perceived value has been regarded as a major contributor to purchase intention (Chang & Wildt, 1994). Besides, customer perceived value is a prerequisite for satisfying customers' certain demand, and it is also a prerequisite for building customers' loyalties (Bloemer, De Ruyter, & Wetzels, 1999). In addition, perceived value has been tested as key driver of customer loyalty and significantly influences customers' satisfaction (Yang & Peterson, 2004).

Perceived value is posited to be related with service quality. Generally, delivery of high quality service has been recognized as a basic retailing strategy in today's competitive retail environment (Berry, 1986; Hummel & Savitt, 1988; Reichheld & Sasser, 1990). Also, service quality is regarded as an important predictor of behavioural intention, for example, repurchasing, recommending to others and so on (Bitner, 1990). The Retail service quality scale includes five dimensions: physical aspects, reliability, personal interaction, problem solving and policy (Dabholkar, Thorper, & Rentz, 1996). Once providing a delivery service in a retail store, the retail service quality from the customers' perspective may change . Free, fast and safe delivery services can enhance the quality of service. Huang and Oppewal (2006) suggest that a delivery option in a retail store could improve customers' perceived value such as quality of service, fast delivery and reasonable fees..

Everyone has different values, beliefs, and preferences. In the experience of shopping especially in the retail sector, different customers have different experiences and different loyalties, so even though the retailer provides the same services, customers may still have different attitudes in store. The core of customer value is the customer's individual value judgment, and it is affected by many aspects. For example, delivery options, self-image, price and function, customers' personal opinion about a delivery option, and perceived risks such as a psychological risk or a privacy risk. In addition, in the retail industry with delivery services, customer perceived value is related to the delivery time, service, and payment (Gil-Saura, Servera-Francés, & Fuentes-Blasco, 2010). Therefore, the purpose of this study is to investigate the relationship among these

variables, as well as the effect of perceived value on behaviour intentions when a delivery service is provided in the retail sector.

2.9. Customer perceived risk in the retail sector with a delivery option

The concept of perceived risk has been studied by many researchers. The original concept of perceived risk was an extension from psychology by Raymond Bauer of Harvard University in 1960. He suggested that most customers after their purchase, may not be sure whether the results matched their expectations or not. According to Bauer's (1960) definition of perceived risk, it can be seen that perceived risk includes two factors: (1) uncertain results, for example, if a customer buys a mobile phone, how does he determine it is the right mobile phone system for him to use in the next year? Moreover, (2) the consequence of the wrong decision. For example, if the mobile phone system which the customer purchased is not familiar, will it effect on the customer's daily use? After Bauer's work, perceived risk has been a common construct that is studied in consumer behaviour.

In consumer behaviour literature, there are many different definitions of perceived risk. Based on Stone and Gronhaug's (1993) concept, perceived risk is defined as the expectation of loss. Cunningham (1967) indicated that consumers subjectively feel perceived risks if they realize that a purchase may not be able to match their purchase objective and the consequences will be unfavourable. Perceived risk can also be defined as the likelihood of uncertainty and adverse consequences perceived by the purchase of a product or service (Dowling & Staelin, 1994).

Perceived risks may include social consequences, financial losses, physical damage, or loss of time (trouble) (Barach, 1969). Jacoby and Kaplan (1972) proposed five perceived risks: financial, performative, physical, psychological, and societal. Based on this, Murray and Schlacter (1990) added time risk. The perceived factors cover a wide range of researchers findings. Stone and Gronhaug (1993) pointed out that the six perceived risks of financial performance, privacy, psychology, time, and social impact could be the main factors for explaining the total perceived risk. Most of the researchers' concepts include financial risk, psychosocial risk, privacy risk and time risk.

D'Alessandro, Girardi, and Tiangsoongner (2012) stated that it is evident that perceived risk has been used in several studies considering both online and offline purchasing behaviour and in a variety of product categories. Jacoby and Kaplan (1972) tested different types of products, such as apparel products (i.e. dress, shoes) and recreational (i.e. sports cars, playing cards) and concluded that similar types of products had similar risk types, for example financial risk and performance risk. Additionally, high value, personal involvement and more complicated products were riskier than those products with fewer characteristics (Kaplan, Szybillo, & Jacoby, 1974; Laurent & Kapferer, 1985). Miyazaki and Fernandez (2000) tested 17 products from an online channel but their results showed that privacy and security was not related with perceived risk; however, a percentage of privacy and security statements were positively related to purchase intention.

Bauer (1967) stated that perceived risk theory is the key point of understanding consumer behaviours. Perceived risk and trust were antecedents of a buyer's willingness (Jarvenpaa, Tractinsky, & Saarinen, 1999). There is a direct negative relationship between perceived risk and willingness to buy from an e-retailer (Jarvenpaa, Tractinsky, & Vitale, 2000). In the retail environment, retailers who can offer products or services with a low risk level will have a strong competitive advantage (Mitchell, 1998). Some prior research studies have provided evidence that services are perceived as riskier than products (Guseman, 1981; Lewis, 1976; Mitcell & Boustani, 2015). Providing a delivery option via technology, delivery services have a certain level of uncertainty, for example, the products may not be delivered in a timely way, or the quality of the product delivered may be damaged. All these uncertain and unexpected results will increase the perception of risk. As stated by Crosby and Stephens (1987), customer's satisfaction and purchase intentions can be affected by uncertainty. The quality of delivery services is an extremely important factor that influences a customer's satisfaction and repurchase intention. Therefore, with providing a delivery option via technology in a retail store, it can be expected that perceived risk will be increased and maybe even affect customers' purchase intention.

2.10. Conclusion

In conclusion, with the intensified competition from both online and offline retailers, the wide adoption of technology by society and business and the evolving needs of consumers to shop from anywhere, anytime, retailers are starting to implement more technology and more services to remain competitive and attractive to consumers. For example, retailers are considering providing a delivery service via a technology device in the physical sector. However, currently, it is unsure whether the addition of a technology and delivery service option is beneficial to physical retailers.

This research primarily believes that adding a delivery option in the retail sector could positively influence customers perceived value when there is a reasonable delivery fee, good quality of service. But it brings perceived risk at the same time. For example, financial risk when they are going to make an order, privacy risk owing to filling in a delivery address and personal information, psychological risk because of the new purchasing option, and a time risk with the expectation of waiting. Therefore, in order to have a clear understanding about the relationship between a new delivery service option and purchase likelihood through the effect of perceived value and perceived risk in retail stores, this research developed a research model and hypothesis which are explained in the following chapter.

Chapter Three: Research Model and Hypothesis

To study the effects of a delivery service option on customers' purchasing likelihood and behaviors in the physical sector, this chapter puts forward a conceptual framework based on the literature review. Also, four hypotheses associated with the model were generated. These hypotheses focus on the relationship between the delivery option, customers' purchase behaviour, perceived risk and perceived value. In addition, the moderating effects of customer's attitudes towards technology adoption on the purchase behaviours with a delivery option via mobile have been proposed.

3.1. Conceptual framework and hypothesis

The conceptual framework guiding this research is presented in Figure 1 and Figure 2. In addition, based on the prior literature review and objectives, this research develops a conceptual framework based on the model of Jarvenpaa, Tractinsky, and Saarinen (1999). Four hypotheses will be presented associated with the model.



Figure 1: Delivery option and purchase likelihood conceptual framework

Note:

3.2. Main Hypothesis

The delivery service has developed rapidly because of the growing retail chain business, especially in the online and offline business sector (Wang & Zhang, 2013). According to Aurier and N'Goala's (2010) study, a delivery service could be one of the main factors for building customer trust and customer's willingness to purchase again. For example, as customers are getting busy for a party after work or do not have enough space for carrying food home with them from retail stores, they extremely desire the delivery service option to take food with their home. This is very attractive for the customers because it saves them time and effort, and it is also convenient.

Sung (2015) stated that customers increasingly see shopping as an activity to seek fun, enjoyment and happiness in both offline and online environments. Because of the changes in consumer demand for goods and services and their own customized patterns, some of the traditional service models may no longer be sufficient to achieve the customer's needs. The traditional retail business model (Figure 1), has customers commonly visit a retail store to purchase products and then carry them by themselves without having any delivery service. It sometimes could not satisfy customer demand. For example, if customers purchase goods that are too heavy, then they could not easily carry those items back home. On the other hand, frozen food like ice-cream, could melt on the way home because of weather conditions and distance. However, the demand for convenience could be achieved by adding a delivery option from retail stores (Figure 2). The arrow in Figure 1 and Figure 2 means customers' potential activity once they have purchase demand.



Figure 2: The retail channels without delivery option



Figure 3: The retail channels adding purchase delivery option

One method is that after the customer demand is generated, consumers can order on an online website or via a mobile APP and the purchase can be delivered to the consumers by a professional delivery option within the specified time from a physical retail store that is near the customers' address. The other way is that if customers in a physical store buy too many items to take home, they can choose delivery services via a mobile phone. More importantly, physical stores could also have a primary function to receive orders and arrange delivery to customers. As physical stores become the "initial point of sale" function, once customers make an order online or using a mobile app, retailers can make a door-to-door service delivery within the specific time from the nearest physical store. The reduced delivery time is an advantage for attracting customers. On the other hand, customers can also pick up or have delivery to their home at a specific time. Consumers can place orders online through mobile phones, computers, tablets and other tools. The system automatically sends the order information to the nearest offline store, and the store completes the packaging. And then, when customers leave work, they could pick up the products that they ordered, or they can ask retailers to deliver the products before they arrive home. Providing a delivery service in a retail store, can better satisfy customers' demand.

As the development of internet information technology and E-commerce, physical stores have also joined the online market such as Carrefour online supermarket, Shanghai Lianhua Online Supermarket, and Suning Shopping mall (Zhao, 2017). These are well-known physical stores in China, which have created their online stores. At this stage, Alibaba proposed a new concept by Mr Ma Yun (Alibaba CEO), which is called

new retail business (Guo & Zhang, 2014). Hong Ye, the vice president of Nelson China 2017, has defined 'New retail' as the online and offline communication channels which are the new modes of logistics and linked by retail stores. Alibaba believes that the new retail is a combination of online and offline business models through data algorithms, intelligent supply chains and artificial intelligence technologies able to complete customers' online and offline orders within a 30-120 minute timeframe (Guo & Zhang, 2014). Now, in well-developed cities in China, physical stores with a delivery option have achieved great success.

In the context of the current research, to choose the delivery option, customers must use a mobile device to select the goods, order and provide their address. Therefore, there is a combination of delivery option and technology. Although customers could perceive risk towards the use of technology and the process of delivery service quality, providing a delivery service in the physical retail sector is a necessary trend as this can better satisfy customers' demand. As Yrjölä, Saarijärvi, and Nummela (2018) emphasise that in today's business environment, retailers are developing, testing, failing, and succeeding in diverse multi- and omni-channel strategies, to remain competitive in attracting shoppers such as satisfying customers' demand. And now customers prefer a convenient shopping environment and providing a delivery service in the physical retail space can provide convenience for customers (Mehmood & Najmi, 2017). Besides, the risk regarding the use of technology and physical distribution quality will decrease as the well-developed distribution service and well-monitored technological system improves. Therefore, the following hypothesis is presented.

Hypothesis1: Adding a new delivery option via mobile in physical retail space will be positively related to shoppers purchase likelihood.

3.2.1 The effect of perceived risk on purchase likelihood

Perceived risk is regarded as the expectation of loss. And perceived risk is also regarded as the likelihood of uncertainty and adverse consequences perceived by the purchase of a product or service. There are different dimensions of risk based on different researchers. Jacoby and Kaplan (1972) proposed five perceived risks (Finance, Performance, Physical, Psychological, Society) while Murray and Schlacter (1990) added time risk. The perceived risk factors could cover a wide range of researchers findings, however most of the researchers' concepts include financial risk, psychosocial risk, privacy risk and time risk. In the retail and delivery service industry, financial risk refers to the loss of money. Time risk is the amount of time required to purchase or the time wasted as a failure result, and psychosocial risk refers to the risk that friends or family may think that a consumer has made a poor or inferior choice (Mitchell, 1998). Perceived risk has been identified as one of the critical factors that can affect consumer purchase intention (Ting, Goh, & Isa, 2016). Several researchers show the result that consumers' perceived risks are negatively related with trust and purchase intention (Eid, 2011; Kim, Ferrin, & Rao, 2008). Bianchi and Andrews (2012) state that perceived risk refers to the feeling of uncertainty when making a purchase decision when there are new purchasing options. Due to this research, when presented with a delivery option via technology devices in the physical retail space, the uncertainty about quality of the delivery service and the unfamiliarity with technology devices could increase customers' perceived risk. The increased perceived risk felt by the shopper could have negative effects on customers' purchase likelihood. Therefore, to test the relationship of customer perceived risk between delivery option and purchase behaviour in the physical retail space, it is proposed that:

Hypothesis 2: The effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood will be mediated by perceived risk.

3.2.2 Effect of perceived value on purchase likelihood

Zenithal (1988) points out that consumers' perceptions of value increase as the benefits of products or services, and high perceived value increases the consumers' willingness to purchases products. Customers' value perceptions are considered to be an important factor of their purchase behaviours (e.g., Zeithaml 1988). According to Levin (2003), shoppers believe that technology with delivery services could bring perceived value. Huang and Oppewal (2006) suggest that a delivery option in a retail store could improve customers' perceived value of quality of service, fast delivery and reasonable fees. As customer perceived value has been regarded as a major contributor to purchase intention (Chang & Wildt, 1994), it is assumed that the increased perceived value will positively affect purchase likelihood because of the presenting of a delivery option in physical retail space. To test the relationship of customer perceived value between delivery option and purchase intention and behaviour in physical retail space, it is proposed that:

Hypothesis 3: The positive effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood will be mediated by perceived value.
3.2.3 Attitude towards technology adoption

Researchers have studied customer's attitudes toward technologies as a method to predict customers' behavioural intentions (Davis, Bagozzi, & Warshaw, 1989; Curran, Meuter, & Surprenant, 2003; Plouffe, Vanderbosch, & Hulland, 2011). Hebert and Benbasat (1994) found evidence for a relationship between attitude and behavioural intention in a model for adoption of information technology. Adams, Nelson and Todd (1992) tested the relationship between ease of use, perceived usefulness and usage of information technology. As a result, they posited that perceived usefulness and ease of use of technology will affect customers' attitude and then influence the usage of technologies. Curran and Meuter (2005) hypothesized four antecedent beliefs to influence attitudes toward the individual technologies. The four beliefs are usefulness, ease of use, need for interaction, and risk. They also tested the relationship between attitude toward ATMs, online banking, phone banking and intention to use them. They proposed and verified the hypothesis that attitudes toward a more widely adopted technology will be more positive than those toward a less widely adopted form. In addition, they proposed and verified the hypothesis that attitude toward a specific self-service technology will influence a consumer's intentions to use that SST. Curran and Meuter (2005) indicated that the impact of antecedent beliefs varies depending on the technology. For example, people will worry about online banking but not ATMs. For this research, the scene setting is using mobile phones to choose a delivery option, thus the technology is a mobile phone. This part will study the effect of attitude towards using mobile phones on the relationship between a delivery option and purchase behaviours. Therefore, the hypothesis is as below.

Hypothesis 4: the level of customers' attitudes towards technology adoption will moderate the impact of a delivery option on purchase likelihood in the physical store via mobile phone

Chapter Four: Research methodology

To test the hypotheses in chapter three, the fourth chapter gives an outline of the overall research design and methodology that will be used to examine the effect of a delivery option on customers' purchase likelihood and behaviours. Also, this research design and methodology were used to examine the effect of perceived risk, perceived value and attitudes towards technology adoption. The first section of the chapter details the research objects about what types of people can be the participants in this research. The second section of the chapter provides details of data collection. The third section is the measurements of the scale items about perceived risk, perceived value and attitudes towards technology adoption. The fourth section is the research design. Then the next section is about sample size of the participants and the data collection procedure. Additionally, data screening and cleaning, the data analysis method, reliability and validity of data will be introduced. In addition, ethical issues are also considered in this research.

4.1. **Research participants**

The main purpose of this research is to measure the relationship between a new delivery service option and purchase likelihood through the effect of perceived value and perceived risk in the retail sector. The supermarket has been selected as the object of study as supermarkets are the place where people go most frequently to purchase groceries (ref). As stated in prior parts, high value, involvement and more complicated products were riskier than those products with less characteristics (Kaplan, Szybillo, & Jacoby, 1974; Laurent & Kapferer, 1985). Therefore, to avoid extremely high-risk products affecting the research results, the scenario setting will be supermarkets.

This research suggests that ideal participants are supermarket consumers with purchase experience, and this research requires that participants who have shopping experience could be better as those customers can truly rate the shopping experience and generate corresponding purchase behaviors according to their own feelings.

Based on prior studies, age, gender, occupation, education, and personal income often have an impact on individual purchase behaviour (Nagarkoti, 2014). Different types of

people have different perceived risks when they are buying the same product (Hoover, Green & Saegert, 1978). Prior studies have pointed out that perceived risk has a relationship with customers' individual purchase behaviour (Spence, Engel & Blackwell, 1970). Spence's (1970) studies also showed that perceived risk is related to customers' education and income level. Customers with a higher education and income had a lower customers' perceived risk than customers with a low education background and income level. People with low incomes and low educational background prefer to purchase low risk products or familiar products (Kelly & Conant, 1991). It was found that older people are likely to be more conservative in actions compared with the younger generation when in risky situations (Kogan & Wallach, 1964). Younger people are happy to try new things rather than older generations, and young people learning and accepting new things quickly than the senior people (Kinnaman & Lyons, 2007). Based on this prior knowledge, the demographic information of supermarket consumers also needed to be collected and then analysed. Importantly, a broad range of people needed to participate to ensure the collected information came from a broad range of perspectives.

4.2. Data Collection

Data can be collected many ways, such as by online survey, interviews, ethnography, experiments and so on. Data contain primary data and secondary data. Primary data is original data collected for a specific research purpose and secondary data is the data was originally collected for a different purpose and reused for another research question (Hox & Boeije, 2005). Primary data can be collected from survey, mailed questionnaires, personal interviews and so on. Secondary data can be collected from someone's report, journal articles, websites and so on. For this research, primary data is relevant and essential as this research will test new things and need to collect original relevant data. And for this research, questionnaires will be used to collect primary data.

4.3. Participants and procedures

In order to get reliable data for this research, two hundred people were randomly recruited from an online panel named Amazon Mechanical Turk (Amazon MTurk). There was no limitation on their age, income, gender, or social status. This method and this panel source are preferred because they are a cost-effective way to gather a large

sample of respondents to provide enough data for statistical analysis. Also, the process can be finished fast. However, there are some limitations by using Amazon MTurk. For example, the participants may not be truly voluntary and they may do it for money or fun. Character misrepresentation occurs when participants distort their identities to get access to a study to gain money (Wessling, Huber, & Netzer, 2017). In the research, it also provides evidence that character misrepresentation by Amazon Merchanical Turk Workers can affect distort research findings significantly.

Two scenarios are developed (refer to appendix C) for the experimental design. One scenario was in a store where customers could only purchase items and take them home themselves. The other scenario was a store with an extra delivery service option where customers could choose whether they take items home by themselves or use the delivery service. Participants were evenly and randomly assigned to one of the two conditions. The purpose of random and even assignment is to avoid bias. After introducing the scenario, there were several questions regarding perceived risk, perceived value and attitudes towards technology use (e.g., mobile phone) and their purchase decision. The respondents were requested to answer the questions based on their perceptions. The online questionnaires (refer to Appendix c) measured with the 7-point Likert scale (1= extremely disagree / 7= extremely agree or 1= extremely low/ 7= extremely high 5= neutral). The reason for using 7-point Likert Scale is that many researchers have stated that it is better than five-point or nine-point. For example, Johns (2010) indicated that data from Likert items becomes significantly less accurate when the number of scale points drops below five or above seven.

4.4. Research design

In this research, a quantitative research method was used. The quantitative research approach uses numerical data to quantify and measure phenomena, and is a formal, objective, and systematic process (Duffy, 1985). Because quantitative research aims to control or eliminate variables in the process of the study, it is considered more reliable that other investigation methods e.g., qualitative research (Duffy, 1985). Hence, in this study, a quantitative research design was undertaken to identify similarities and differences in purchase likelihood with adding a delivery option.

To test the effects of adding a delivery option via mobile phone in a physical space on consumer's purchase likelihood, this research presents a scenario-based online survey.

There are two scenarios and respondents were randomly shown only one scenario. After the scenario, respondents were required to answer whether they would purchase or not. And in scenario 2, respondents could choose whether they would purchase or not, and if they chose to purchase, then which method they would purchase, take the goods home by themselves or pay by mobile and get the goods delivered. After that, some scale questions about the items of perceived risk and perceived value were asked. Further, some questions about the attitudes towards technology adoptions were answered. Comparing these two scenarios results, the effect of providing a delivery option via mobile phone in a physical place would be shown. The overall research design is a 2 (purchase option: with delivery option versus no delivery option) x^2 (purchase intention: purchase versus not purchase) $x ^ 2$ (purchase method: take items home versus use delivery service) between subject design. The details of the two scenarios are as below.

Scenario 1: Imagine that you are purchasing several items at a grocery store. The store only provides you with one option for payment and delivery: to pay for the items in the store and bring them home with you.

Scenario 2: Imagine that you are purchasing several items at a grocery store. The store provides you with two options for payment and delivery: to pay for the items and bring them home with you, or alternatively purchase the items in-store via your mobile phone and have them delivered to your home. The delivery fee is free and the delivery can be completed within 30 minutes.

4.5. Measurements

Scale items that are assessing the key constructs, such as perceived risk, perceived value and personal attitudes towards adoption of technology are from past studies. Independent variable for this thesis is delivery option, and dependent variable is purchase likelihood. Based on the prior research, perceived risk does contain 5 aspects, from these, psychological, financial, social and privacy risk will be selected as the main risks. Perceived risk was adapted from Venkatraman, Aloysius, and Davis (2006) with a five-item scale about the above five aspects. Those items were, "what are the chances that you stand to lose money if you try this method of payment", "what is the likelihood that there will be something wrong with this method of payment or that it will not work properly", "what are the chances that this method of payment may not be safe", "what the chances that this method of payment may not be safe", "what self-concept", and fifthly "what are the chances that this method of payment will affect the way others think of you". And after these, an overall perceived risk question was asked, that is "on the whole, considering all sorts of factors combined, how risky would you say it was to buy with this method of payment?". A high score indicated a high level of perceived risk.

Perceived value was adapted from Levesque and McDougall (1996) literature. The dimension of perceived value has 4 scale items which are also 7-point Likert-type and three of them were used. Those items were "the store provides attractive services", "the store provides more free services", "the store provides me with good value", "please indicate how the perceived value of this grocery store to you would change with adding a delivery option via mobile phone". A high score indicated a high level of perceived value, also meaning that they think the store provides high value services to them.

To test respondents' personal attitudes towards adoption of technology, some items were adapted from Meuter, Bitner, Ostrom, and Brown (2005). In their studies to test the factors that affect the trial of self-service technologies, technology anxiety, inertia, need for interaction, previous experience and demographic characteristics were included. Some of the scale items were selected. Those items were "For me, the cost in time, effort and grief to switch payment methods is high," " I have avoided technology because it is unfamiliar to me", " it bothers me to use a machine or app when I could talk to a live person instead", "I do not have much experience using the internet or new technology. (e.g. mobile shopping)". A high score indicated that respondent's unwillingness to adopt new technology.

At the end of the questionnaire, additional information about the gender, age, occupation, education level, and income was listed. Participants were given the instruction to circle the most appropriate answer that applied to them. For example, in order to find out the participant's accurate age, the age groups are as follows: "under 18 years old", "18-24 years old", "25-34 years old", "35-44 years old", "45-54 years old", "55-64 years old", "65-74 years old", "75-84 years old", "85 or older". To collect data about their income, they were asked to select the category that was suitable for them. It " \$10,000", "\$10,000-\$19,999", included "less than \$20,000-\$29,999", "\$30,000-\$39,999", "\$40,000-\$49,999", "\$50,000-\$59,999", "\$60,000-\$69,999", "\$70,000-\$79,999", "\$80,000-\$89,999", "\$90,000-\$99,999", "\$100,000-\$149,999" and "more than \$150,000". Questions about social roles included "employed full time", "employed part time", "unemployed looking for work", "unemployed not looking for work", "retired", "student" and "disabled". Additionally, some questions about the respondent's purchase experience were listed (e.g. how often do you go grocery shopping?).

4.6. Data screening and cleaning

Before using the data to analyse and test hypotheses, it was essential to check the data that was collected from the questionnaires.

Data screening are the process of ensuring the data are clean before conducting statistical analyses. The purpose of data screening is to ensure the data are reliable and valid for testing. Data screening can be done manually to check all questionnaires whether all the questions had been answered. If some questionnaires contained too many unfinished answers, then these questionnaires were not valid or reliable. That data cannot be used for the final data analysis.

Data cleaning are the process of identifying inaccurate records, unfinished, and unreliable data. Then, correcting this data by replacing, modifying or deleting it. For example, the missing data can be replaced by mean numbers if there are only a few incomplete questions in some questionnaires.

4.7. Data Analysis

Based on the research purpose and hypotheses, this research mainly used SPSS software and statistical methods to analyse collected data. The independent variable was the delivery option and the dependent variable was purchase behaviours. The mediators were perceived risk and perceived value. To analyse the data and test the hypotheses, frequency test, Chi-square test, ANOVA method and Hayes method were used to test the effect of a delivery option on purchase behaviour, also the mediator role of perceived risk and perceived value and the moderator role of technology adoption.

The reason for using Chi-Square test is that it is commonly used for testing relationships between categorical variables (e.g. gender) whether one variable is related to another. In this hypothesis test, both the independent variable and dependent variable were categorical variables. Also, the purpose was to test whether a delivery option had a relationship with purchase likelihood. The reason for using one-way ANOVA analysis is that it is used to determine whether there is statistically significant differences between the means of the groups. The one-way ANOVA compares the means between the groups and determines whether the means are statistically significantly different from each other. To test the mediator role of perceived risk and perceived value, Haye's method was conducted. As there are two mediators, a mediation analysis based on Preacher and Hayes (2008) was conducted. Preacher and Haye's SPSS macro modules (model #4, with 5000 bootstrapped samples) were used.

4.8. **Reliability and Validity**

For a research study, testing reliability and validity of research data is extremely important. Reliability and validity are considered to be the two fundamental elements in the process of evaluation measurement (Tavakol & Dennick, 2011).

Reliability concerns the extent to which an experiment or test yields the same results on repeated trials (Carmines & Zeller, 1979). It is commonly measured by internal consistency by using Cronbach alpha coefficients. Alpha is a measure of internal consistency of a scale which is expressed as a number between 0 and 1, and the closer the coefficient alpha value is to 1, the greater the internal consistency of the scale items. It indicates how closely related a set of items are as a group and it is regarded as a measure of scale reliability. In the other words, a small figure of coefficient alpha indicates that the items do not fully capture the construct. A high alpha coefficient suggests that the items have relatively high internal consistency. Alpha value above 0.7 means that it is an acceptable value of alpha (Jum, 1978; Tavakol & Dennick, 2011).

Validity analysis measures the degree to which it measures what it is supposed to measure. Validity includes three categories: criterion validity, content validity and construct validity (Calder, Phillips, & Tybout, 1982). Among these three categories, construct validity is the most important. Convergent validity and discriminant validity are the subtypes of construct validity. In this study, both convergent validity and discriminant validity and discriminant validity were performed by exploratory factor analysis. According to Thompson (2007), factor analysis is a statistical method for identifying the structure underlying measured data, such as variables.

4.9. Ethical considerations

There are four ethical issues that need to be addressed in conducting research (Fouka & Mantzorou, 2011) and three of them pertain to this research. The first one is informed

consent, which means all participants should knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently and in a clear way give consent (Armiger, 1977). The second is respect for anonymity and confidentiality which means all information of participants should be kept confidential. The third ethical issue is respect for privacy.

A consent form was provided to the participants to gain approval for this survey. They were told that all their information would be kept confidential. Also, their privacy information would be maintained confidentially. No personal information was to be collected regarding the participant. In addition, the researcher clearly stated that responses would be anonymous and all information pertaining to them would be kept confidential and data would be stored in a locked file at AUT, and no one else except the researcher could access the information. Furthermore, participants had the right to ask for a copy of the research once completed. If participants felt uncomfortable during the process, they could stop answering the questions immediately. The ethical considerations for this survey were approved by the Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee and is attached in the Appendix A.

Chapter Five: Findings

This chapter will analyse demographic information of the participants. It will also test the validity and reliability of scales items of perceived risk, perceived value and attitude towards technology adoption. In addition, the most important part is the analysis of the four hypotheses being tested. The purpose of the chapter is to display and interpret the results of the hypotheses tests. The hypotheses include:

Hypothesis1: Adding a new delivery option via mobile in a physical retail space will be positively related to shoppers' purchase likelihood.

Hypothesis 2: The effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood will be mediated by perceived risk.

Hypothesis 3: The positive effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood will be mediated by perceived value.

Hypothesis 4: The level of customers' attitudes towards technology adoption will moderate the impact of the delivery option on the purchase likelihood in a physical field via mobile phone.

The purpose of the chapter is to display and interpret the results of the hypotheses tests. Also, based on the results, the pertinent findings are also listed.

5.1. Demographic information

A total of 200 surveys were returned and the effective sample size was 200. In this study, 53% of the respondents were male and 47% were female; 92 participants were between the ages of 25 and 34 making a percentage of 46%.16.5% and 13.5% were in the age brackets of 35 to 44, and 18 to 24 respectively. 70% of participants were employed full time and 73.4% of participants had a bachelor's degree or higher. 41.2% of participants had an earned income over \$50,000 while 79.8% were the main household shopper which satisfied the criteria. 57.5% of the respondents went shopping once a week (see Table 2).

Demographics	Number	Percentages
Gender		
Male	105	53%
Female	93	47%
Age		
under 18	1	0.5%
18-24	27	13.5%
25-34	92	46%
35-44	33	16.5%
45- 54	25	12.5%
55-64	17	8.5%
65-74	3	1.6%
75-84	1	0.5%
Education		
less than high school	2	1.0%
High school graduate	18	9.0%
Some college	33	16.5%
2-year degree	17	8.5 %
4-year degree	99	49.5%
Professional degree	28	14%
Doctorate	2	1.0%
Income		
less than \$10000	13	6.5%
\$10000- \$19999	22	11.0%
\$20000- \$29999	31	15.5%
\$30000- \$39999	25	12.5%
\$40000- \$49999	26	13.0%
\$50000- \$59999	25	12.5%
\$60000- \$69999	8	4.0%
\$70000- \$79999	5	2.5%
\$80000- \$89999	10	5.0%
\$90000- \$99999	15	7.5%
\$100000- \$149999	15	7.5%
More than \$150000	4	2.0%
Main Household Shopper		
Yes	158	79.8%
Maybe	22	11.1%
No	18	9.1%

Source: Authors Estimation

5.2. Reliability Analysis

Table 3 shows the internal consistency of the questionnaires that were completed by 200 respondents. A Cronbach's analysis was conducted on the subscale of the survey. It was found that the subscale's alpha level of perceived risk was 0.953. Also, if any one of the items was deleted, the alpha of perceived risk was smaller than 0.953 which indicates that the scales of perceived risk had an adequate level of inter-item reliability. For example, if the question "What are the chances that you stand to lose money if you try this method of payment?" was deleted, then the alpha of perceived risk was 0.943 which is smaller than 0.953, so this means the reliability is reduced. The alpha level of perceived value was 0.821and alpha level of attitudes to technology adoption was 0.807 and they are both larger than 0.7 which is an acceptable value. These results showed that scales of perceived value and attitude towards technology adoption had an adequate level of inter-item reliability.

	Component			
Cronbach's Alpha	Perceived risk Perceived value	Attitude to TA		
if item deleted				
Perceive risk				
PR1	0.943			
PR2	0.939			
PR3	0.950			
PR4	0.947			
PR5	0.944			
PR6	0.938			
Perceive value				
PV1	0.714			
PV2	0.808			
PV3	0.738			
PV4	0.829			
Attitude to technology ac	loption			
TA1		0.769		
TA2		0.741		
TA3		0.771		
TA4		0.748		
Cronbach Alpha	0.953 0.821	0.807		

Source: Authors Estimation

5.3. Validity

According to Hair Jr, Hult, Ringle, & Sarstedt (2016), factor loading of each dimension and average variance extraction (AVE) above 0.50 can be regarded as an acceptable level of reasonable convergent validity. In table 3, all the factors' loading are above 0.5 which indicates significant cross loading. For example, the factor loading of the question "What is the likelihood that there will be something wrong with this method of payment or that it will not work properly?" is 0.936. The factor loading of question "I do not have much experience using the new technology (e.g., mobile shopping)" is 0.733.

In addition, AVE (average variance extraction) figures of these factors are between 0.622 and 0.813 which are all larger than 0.50. For example, the AVE of perceived risk is 0.813 and the AVE of perceived value is 0.687. Besides, the AVE of attitudes towards technology adoption is 0.622. Therefore, it meets the recommendation criteria (Hair et al., 2016).

In terms of discriminant validity, based on Fornell & Larcker's study (1981), if the square root of the average variance extracted (AVE) is larger than its correlations with other constructs it can be proved. In table 4, it is shown that all the square roots of AVE figures are larger than inter-construct correlations. For example, the square root of AVE of perceived risk is 0.902 and the correlation between perceived risk and perceived value is 0.208, whereas the correlation between perceived risk and attitudes towards technology adoption is 0.550. 0.902 is greater than 0.208 and 0.550. In addition, 0.829 which is the square root of AVE of perceived risk and perceived value is greater than 0.208 which is the correlation between perceived value and 0.105 which is the correlation between perceived value and attitudes towards technology adoption. Therefore, it matched the requirement of discriminant validity.

Table 4: Result of convergent validity measures

	Factors loading	AVE
Perceived Risk		0.813
What is the likelihood that there will be something wrong with this method of payment or that it will not work properly?	0.936	
What are the chances that this method of payment may not be safe?	0.926	
On the whole, considering all sorts of factors combined, about how risky would you say it was to buy with this method of payment?	0.922	
What are the chances that you stand to lose money if you try this method of payment?	0.915	_
What are the chances that this method of payment will affect the way others think of you?	0.838	_
What are the chances that this method of payment will not fit in well with your self-image or self-concept? (The term self-concept is a general term used to refer to how someone thinks about, evaluates or perceives themselves).	0.783	_
Perceived Value		0.687
The store provides me with good value.	0.890	
The store provides attractive services.	0.883	
The store provides more free services.	0.753	_
Please indicate how the perceived value of this grocery store to you would change with adding a delivery option via mobile phone.	0.714	
Attitude to Technology Adoption		0.622
It bothers me to use a mobile app when I could talk to a live person instead.	0.852	
I have avoided technology because it is unfamiliar to me.	0.753	1
I do not have much experience using the new technology (e.g., mobile shopping).	0.733	
For me, the cost in time, effort and grief to switch payment methods is high.	0.728	

Table 5: Discriminant validity

	Perceived Risk	Perceived Value	Attitudes to TA
Perceived Risk	0.902		
Perceived value	0.208	0.829	
Attitudes to TA	0.550	0.105	0.789

Note: Diagonal: square root of AVE Off-diagonals: correlation between latent variables

5.4. Research questions and hypothesis tests

To test hypothesis 1, which predicted that adding a new delivery option via mobile in a physical retail space will be positively related to shoppers purchase likelihood and behaviours, a Chi-square test was performed. In this hypothesis test, the independent variable and the dependent variable are both categorical variables. Also, the purpose was to test whether a delivery option has a relationship with purchase likelihood.

To perform Chi-Square test, firstly, the scenario conditions were set in rows and buy or not buy and the dependent variable for condition one and two in columns. The null hypothesis for Chi-square test is that there is no relationship between the two variables. The alternative hypothesis for Chi-square test is that there is a relationship between the two variables.

In these results, the Pearson chi-square statistic between the scenario condition and buy or not buy is 3.107 and the *p*-value is .078. Therefore, the null hypothesis can be rejected and the alternative hypothesis that there is marginally significant association between the variables as the *p*-value is greater than .05 and smaller than .10 can be supported. This indicated that providing a delivery option via mobile phone in a retail store marginally increased the percentage that people buy or do not buy. More specifically, when providing a delivery service option to customers, the percentage of purchasing marginally increased. We can also prove this result by the data from the question "How likely are you to purchase items from this grocery store?" Among the 100 respondents in group one (store with no delivery service), 98 respondents choose to buy and in group two (store with delivery service), 100 respondents choose to buy (see Table 6). The difference between 98 and 100 is minimal.

Table 6: First chi-square analysis

	No Purchase	Purchase
No delivery option	2	98
Online delivery option	0	100

Besides, the Pearson chi-square statistic between scenario condition and dependent variable (how customer purchase, e.g. take items home or use a delivery service) is 46.385 and *p*-value is 0.000. Therefore, at a significance level of 0.001, we can reject the null hypothesis that there is no significant association between the variables. This indicated that providing a delivery service option via mobile phone in a physical retail sector affects the way that customers purchase. For example, once providing a delivery service option, around 40% of participants would choose to use it. This can also be proved by the data from the questions "How likely are you to purchase items from this grocery store?" Among the 100 respondents in group one (store with no delivery service), 98 respondents chose to buy and take items home by themselves; Among 100 respondents in group two (store with delivery services), 36 people chose to use delivery services and 64 people would like to take items themselves (see Table 7).

T 11 T	a 1	1.	
Table /	Second	chi-square	analysis
1 abic 7.	becond	oni square	anarysis

	Take Items by self	Online delivery
No delivery option	98	0
Online delivery option	36	64

However, there is a limitation that can not be ignored based on the simple scenario. The first scenario put everyone who decided to purchase were classified as 'take items home directly' by default, whereas the second scenario divided 100 respondents into two conditions based on their selection. Respondents' answer for main dependent variable, i.e., no-purchase/purchase and take items home/ purchase and online delivery, are very limited. For example, 98 out of 100 chose purchase and take items home. In addition, 100% chose purchase (36% take items home, 64% choose online delivery). therefore, the data is skewed. However, the overall effect of new delivery option via mobile on purchase likelihood and behaviour has been successfully tested.

5.5. Mediator role of perceived risk and perceived value

To examine the mediating role of perceived risk, first, the relationship between independent variable and perceived risk was tested. A one-way ANOVA was performed to test whether the types of perceived risk related to an independent variable (scenario condition: with delivery option or not). That is, whether financial risk, functional risk, security risk, social risk, psychological risk were related to a scenario condition. The reason for using one-way ANOVA analysis is that it is used to determine whether there is statistically significant difference between the means of the groups. The one-way ANOVA compares the means between the groups and determines whether the means are statistically significantly different from each other. This research wanted to compare the mean number of financial risks, functional risk, security risk, psychological risk, social risk and overall risk between the two groups. The two groups were the participants who were randomly assigned to a store without delivery services or a store with a delivery service.

The result showed that customers did not show greater financial (F(1,198)=0.183, p=.669), functional (F(1,198)=0.494, p=.483), security (F(1,198)=0.154, p=.695), psychological (F(1,198)=0.177, p=.675), social (F(1,198)=0.007, p=.936) and overall risk (F(1,198)=0.004, p=.950) when they had a delivery option via mobile phone or not (see Table 5).

The result showed that the mean value of financial risk between scenario without delivery option and scenario with delivery option was 2.57 versus 2.68. Also, the mean value of functional risk was 2.63 versus 2.81; the mean value of security risk was 2.75 versus 2.84; the mean value of psychological risk was 2.57 versus 2.67; the mean value of social risk was 2.42 versus 2.45. In the 7-point Likert-type, these mean values are all lower than 3 which means that the perceived risk in both conditions was very low.

Table 8: respondent's perceived risk responses

	Scenario 1	Scenario2	F	Р
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
Financial risk	2.57 (1.836)	2.68 (2.039)	0.183	0.669
Functional risk	2.63 (1.838)	2.81 (1.896)	0.494	0.483

Security risk	2.75 (1.618)	2.84 (1.770)	0.154	0.695
Psychological risk	2.57 (1.814)	2.67 (1.806)	0.177	0.675
Social risk	2.42 (1.773)	2.45 (1.942)	0.007	0.936
Overall risk	2.68 (1.766)	2.69 (1.896)	0.004	0.950

Based on the above results, the score of perceived risk in the two groups are similar. This means that there is no strong relationship between IV (scenario condition) and perceived risk.

To test the mediator role of perceived value, the same procedures as testing perceived risk were performed. To examine the mediation role of perceived value, first, the relationship between independent variable and perceived value was tested. A one-way ANOVA was performed to test whether the types of perceived value related to IV (scenario condition). The results showed that customers showed greater attractive services (F(1,191) = 32.724, p < .001), free services (F(1,196) = 45.703, p < .001), or good value (F(1,198) = 13.833, p < .001) when they had a delivery option via mobile phone than no delivery option (see Table 6). However, about the question "please indicate how the perceived value of this grocery store to you would change with adding a delivery option via mobile phone" the results show (F(1,198) = 1.3, p=.256), which indicates that the difference between these two groups' scores is not significant.

The result showed that the mean value of attractive service between the scenario without a delivery option and the scenario with a delivery option is 4.58 versus 5.60. Also, the mean value of free services is 3.66 versus 5.09; the mean value of good value is 4.76 versus 5.44; the mean values of perceived value scale items in the scenario with a delivery option were all greater than in the scenario without a delivery option.

	Scenario 1	Scenario2	F	Р
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		
Attractive services	4.58 (1.318)	5.60 (1.206)	32.724	0.000
Free services	3.66 (1.546)	5.09 (1.422)	45.703	0.000
Good value	4.76 (1.294)	5.44 (1.284)	13.833	0.000

Table 9: Respondent's perceived value responses

Overall value changes	5.05 (1.119)	5.25 (1.315)	1.3	0.256
-----------------------	--------------	--------------	-----	-------

The above results show that there is a strong relationship between IV (scenario condition) and perceived value. And when adding a free delivery service option in a physical store, the average amount of perceived value is greater than no delivery option.

Before testing the mediating role of perceived risk and perceived value, knowledge about mediation should be acknowledged. Mediation includes full mediation and partial mediation. Full mediation means with a controlling mediator, there is no longer a significant direct effect of an independent variable on a dependent variable (Kim et al., 2018; Kim, Cui, Jang, Spence, & Park, 2019). In contrast, if there a significant direct effect between an independent variable and a dependent variable remains after controlling the mediator but the effect is reduced, then the mediator is partial mediation. The Hayes method and Baron and Kennys' regression analysis can both test mediator roles. However, nowadays, the more accurate and popular method is the Hayes method.

Below is a simple statistical mediation model of Hayes.



Indirect effect of X on Y through $M_i = a_i b_i$ Direct effect of X on Y = c'

Note: Model 4 allows up to 10 mediators operating in parallel.

Based on the above conceptual diagram, the conceptual model used in this research is below (Figure 3).





Figure 4: The mediator role of perceived risk and perceived value conceptual model.

To test the mediator role of perceived risk and perceived value, Haye's method was used. As there are two mediators, a mediation analysis based on Preacher and Hayes was conducted (2008), using Preacher and Haye's SPSS macro modules (model #4, with 5000 bootstrapped samples). The independent variable is the scenario condition (with delivery option or not), the dependent variable is buying or not buying, and two mediators are perceived risk and perceived value. The results indicate that the mediator role of perceived risk is not significant (p=0.6670) and include zero (90% bootstrap confidence interval (CI): -0.2653,0.1591). While the direct effect is also not significant (90% bootstrap confidence interval (CI): -507.9276, 536.2844. The results also indicate that the mediator role of perceived value is not significant (p=0.3493) and include zero (90% bootstrap confidence interval (CI): -2.6046,0.7977). Therefore, it supports that neither perceived risk nor perceived value are mediators of delivery option and purchase likelihood. Therefore, hypothesis 2 and hypothesis 3 are not supported.

However, was the customer's perceived risk and perceived value related to their behaviours? For example, whether those people who chose to carry items home and those who chose a delivery option had a similar perceived risk and perceived value. To test this, the data collected only from scenario two has been used. In SPSS, first data were selected -then case, and then the condition that IV condition equal two was set, which meant that only data based on scenario two was used. One-way ANOVA was performed. The dependents were perceived risk and perceived value. And the factor column is the result of how customers purchase (e.g. take items home or use delivery options). Thus the number of perceived value and perceived risk between customers who use delivery service and customers who take items home were compared. The

results are shown in table 7. The results showed that the difference of customers' perceived risk between those who chose to carry items home and those who chose the delivery option is not significant (F(1,99) = 0.374, P = .542). Also, the mean value of perceived risk between these two groups is 2.61 versus 2.82. Besides, the results showed that the difference of customer's perceived value between those who chose to carry items home and those who chose the delivery option is significant (F(1,99) = 26.224, p < .001). It also indicates that customers who chose a delivery option had larger perceived value (M=5.98, SD=0.768) than those who chose to carry items home

5.6. Moderator role of adoption technology

Before testing the moderator role of adoption technology, the knowledge about using a moderator should be understood. A moderator is an independent variable that influences the strength or direction of the relationship between independent variables and dependent variables (Bennett, 2000). According to Dardas and Ahmad (2015), a moderator could be a variable that increases, decreases or reverses the effect of the predictor on the outcome.

To test the moderator role of adoption technology, Preacher and Hayes' SPSS macro modules #1 with 5000 bootstrapped samples was used. The independent variable is the scenario condition, while the dependent variable is buying or not buying, and the mediator is adoption technology. Below is the simple statistical moderator model 1 of Hayes.





Based on the above conceptual diagram, the moderator conceptual model used in this research is below (Figure 4)



Figure 5: The moderator of adoption technology conceptual model

Based on the results, no significant interaction of scenario condition (delivery option) and technology adoption in that 95% bootstrap confidence interval (CI) include zero (95% CI: -397.3663, 396.0817) was found. Also, the p value of technology adoption was 0.99. Therefore, it indicates that the attitudes towards technology adoption is not a moderator between delivery option and purchase likelihood. However, do personal attitudes towards technology adoption affect the way that customers would like to purchase? To test this, only the data collected from scenario two was used. In SPSS, first data, then case were selected, then the condition that IV condition equal two was set, meaning that data was only based on scenario two. One-way ANOVA was performed. The factor is DV for condition one and two, and dependent list is technology adoption. The results are shown in table 8. The results showed that customers' anxiety about technology adoption between those who choose to carry items home and those who chose the delivery option is significantly different (F(1,99) = 5.334, P = .023). In particular, those who choose to carry items home had greater anxiety about technology adoption than those who choose the delivery option (M=3.65 VS M=2.92). The mean number stands for the level of unwillingness to use technology. The higher figure means that customers are not willing to use technology options. This result indicates that customers' attitudes towards technology influence their purchase behaviour when shopping.

Table 10: Respondent's responses from scenario two

F				
	Carry home	Delivery	F	Р
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)		

Perceived Risk	2.61 (1.705)	2.82 (1.583)	0.374	0.542
Perceived Value	4.98 (1.03)	5.98 (0.768)	26.224	0.000
Technology Adoption	3.65 (1.426)	2.92 (1.70)	5.334	0.023

5.7. Demographic information analysis

Several studies indicate that the younger generation more easily accept new technology. Also, males, and people with a high level of income and education will accept new technologies more easily (Zeithaml & Gilly, 1987; Sim & Koi, 2002). To verify whether this theory applied to this research, a Chi-square test was performed. The tested data was based on only scenario two data as only this group participants face two options. Part of the results are shown in table 8. The p-value for these aspects (age, gender, income, education, shopping frequency) are all larger than 0.1 which means the difference of these aspects between the carry items home group and the choose delivery group is not significant. However, it is hard to arrive at the conclusion that the results did not accord with Zeithaml and Gilly's theory. The results show that the younger generation has a higher percentage of customers who choose the delivery option than other age groups. For example, 22% respondents in group 25-34 years old choose the delivery option and only 12% respondents in group 55-64 years old choose the delivery option. The percentage of respondents who choose the delivery option who had a high level of education was higher than those with a lower level of education. For example, in the 2-year degree group, 60% choose the delivery option but in the high school graduate and some college group, the percentages are 36% and 42% respectively. Additionally high-level income respondents were more likely to choose the delivery option. For example, the results show that 71% respondents with an income between \$40,000 to \$49,999 would prefer a delivery option and this figure is higher than those respondents whose income was between \$10,000 and \$29,999. Besides, the results show that the more money that people spend, the more likely they are to use a delivery option. 50% of respondents who purchase between \$150-\$200 choose to use delivery service option and only 22% of respondents who purchase between \$10-\$50 choose to use delivery service option. It can be assumed that the more money they spend, the heavier items will be, and the demand for delivery will be higher.

Demograp	ohics Carry	items (Percentage)	Delivery (percentages)	
Gender	Male	34 (64%)	19 (36%)	
	Female	30 (64%)	17(36%)	
Age	under 18	1 (100%)	0 (0)	
	18-24	22 (81%)	5 (19%)	
	25-34	71 (78%)	20 (22%)	
	35-44	27 (82%)	6 (18%)	
	45-54	19 (83%)	4 (17%)	
	55-64	15 (88%)	2 (12%)	
	65-74	3 (100%)	0 (0)	
	75-84	1 (100%)	0 (0)	
Education		1 (1000())		
	less than high school	1 (100%)	0 (0)	
	High school graduate	7 (64%)	4 (36%)	
	Some college	11 (58%)	8 (42%)	
	2-year degree	6 (40%) 21((70()	9 (60%)	
	4-year degree	31(6%)	15(33%)	
	Professional degree	9 (60%)	6 (40%)	
	Doctorate	0 (0)	1 (100%)	
Income				
	less than \$10000	7 (87%)	1 (13%)	
	\$10000- \$19999	8 (73%)	3 (27%)	
	\$20000- \$29999	9 (53%)	8 (47%)	
	\$30000- \$39999	7 (64%)	4 (36%)	
	\$40000- \$49999	4 (29%)	10 (71%)	
	\$50000- \$59999	11 (79%)	3 (21%)	
	\$60000- \$69999	1 (50%)	1 (50%)	
	\$70000- \$79999	1 (33%)	2 (67%)	
	\$80000- \$89999	2 (50%)	2 (50%)	
	\$90000- \$99999	6 (75%)	2 (25%)	
	\$100000- \$149999	6 (86%)	1 (14%)	
	More than \$150000	1 (100%)	0 (0)	
How often	σο shonninσ			
	Two weeks for once	14 (61%)	9 (39%)	
	Once a week	37 (65%)	20 (55%)	
	Twice a week	13 (62%)	8 (38%)	
How much	spena \$10, \$50	10 (700/)	5 (229/)	
	910-930 \$50 \$100	18 (/8%) 22 (590/)	5(22%) 17(429/)	
	JJU- J1UU \$100 \$150	23 (38%) 17 (659/)	1/(43%)	
	\$100-\$130 \$150_\$200	1 / (03%) 1 (50%)	9 (3370) A (50%)	
	9130- \$200 More then \$250	4 (3070) 1 (320/)	4 (3070) 2 (6702)	
	whole than \$250	1 (33%)	2(0/70)	

Table 11: Demographic information analysis

Source: Author's Estimation

Chapter Six: Discussion

This chapter focuses on discussing the results from the hypotheses tested in chapter five. Also, this part provides insight and justify for why the results occurred and possible reasons and explanations. In addition, this chapter will discuss the findings and relate them back to previous research.

6.1. Hypothesis 1

Hypothesis1: Adding a new delivery option via mobile in a physical retail space will be positively related to shoppers' purchase likelihood.

Contrary to expectations, the result did not find significant difference of purchase likelihood between two groups, one being a store and the other one a store with a delivery service. Among the 100 respondents in group one (store with no delivery service), 98 respondents chose to buy and in group two (store with a delivery service), 100% respondents choose to buy. It shows only a marginal difference. This finding is inconsistent with Schwartz (2000) who found that more choices for customers made them tend to delay making a choice. The possible reason for this result is perhaps that providing a delivery service option is only one more option and it did not result in choice overload. Adding a delivery service option did not negatively influence customers' purchasing decision.

Another reason behind the marginally significant difference could be because each participant was only provided one physical store. For the group with people that were randomly assigned with the scenario without a delivery option, they did not know about the existence of the other store with a delivery option. Under that circumstance, they may have chosen to buy as there was no other more attractive choice. However, if each participant had been provided with two scenarios (one without a delivery option and the other one with a delivery option) and they needed to choose in the two scenarios the results may have been different.

Although purchase likelihood did not change significantly in this research, purchase behaviours do change significantly. In group two (providing delivery options), 37 respondents out of 100 chose the delivery option via mobile phone, and p- value is

0.000 which is significant. This means with the delivery option provided, customer behaviours about the purchase method changed.

6.2. Hypothesis 2

Hypothesis 2: The effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood will be mediated by perceived risk.

The results show that perceived risk is not a mediator. Regarding perceived risk, the findings indicate that financial risk, functional risk, security risk, psychological risk and social risk have no effect on customers' attitudes toward shopping in the physical field providing a delivery option. The mean number of these types of risks in the two groups are similar and low. One of the possible reasons is that the risk figures are based on the respondent's option choice in each scenario. The mean number of perceived risks in two groups may not really reflect the real risk. The data from scenario 2 shows that the mean number of perceived risks between the respondents who choose the delivery option or the carry items home option is still similar and low. Those results indicate that in a physical retail store, customers do not perceive high risk when there is delivery option via mobile phone. This is inconsistent with prior studies that perceived risk has a relationship with customers' individual purchase behaviour (Spence, Engel & Blackwell, 1970). The reason may be compared with online shopping with a delivery option, when customers have more trust and less anxiety in the physical retail space.

6.3. Hypothesis 3

Hypothesis 3: The positive effect of a delivery option on customer's purchase likelihood will be mediated by perceived value.

The results show that perceived value is not a mediator. However, there is an interesting finding that the mean number of perceived values in group 2 (with delivery option) is much higher than group 1 (without delivery option). Also, the focus was on analysing the data from group 2 (with delivery option). Among the 100 respondents in group 2 (with delivery option), people who choose the delivery option had a higher number of mean values of perceived value than those people who choose to carry items home. Even though perceived value does not affect purchase likelihood, the results indicate that it has influence on customers' purchase behaviours (take items home or use

delivery service). For example, the perceived value increased for those who had their groceries delivered? This is consistent with Zeithaml's (1988) opinion that customers' value perceptions are an important factor of their purchase behaviours. This supports previous findings that technology changes how services are conceived, developed and delivered (Meuter, Bitner, Ostrom, & Brown, 2005). Also, it supports the opinion that technology is changing people's lifestyle. With providing a delivery service in physical space, a proportion of customers would like to choose delivery services when shopping.

6.4. Hypothesis 4

About hypothesis 4, to test the moderator role of attitudes toward technology adoption between delivery option and purchase likelihood. The results show that attitudes toward technology adoption is not a moderator. However, among the 100 respondents in group 2, people who choose the delivery option had a lower level of concern about technology adoption than those who choose to carry items home. This result reflects that the attitudes towards technology adoption can influence customers' purchase behaviour (e.g., purchase method). It is consistent with previous findings that customers' attitudes towards technologies are a method to predict customers' behavioural intentions (Davis, Bagozzi, & Warshaw, 1989; Curran, Meuter, & Surprenant, 2003; Plouffe, Vanderbosch, & Hulland, 2011). In the scale of attitudes towards technology adoption, four questions about inertia, technology anxiety, need for interaction and previous experience are listed. These questions focus on individual differences towards the use of technology (not perceived usefulness) and perceived ease of use. This result also indirectly indicates that individual differences would influence customer's purchase behaviours. It is consistent with Dabholkar and Bagozzi's (2002) finding that consumer traits difference can affect an attitudinal model of technology-based self-service.

In the analysis of the demographic information, the statistical results show that there is no significant difference between customers who choose a delivery option and those who choose to carry items home. However, the figure shows that young people, high income earrners, and well as educated respondents have a higher percentage of people who choose the delivery option than others. To a certain extent, it is consistent with the study that a high level of income and educated people will accept new technologies easier (Zeithaml & Gilly, 1987; Sim & Koi, 2002). Why is this do we think? Also, it found that the more money that customers spend, the items could be much heavier, and the demand for a delivery service would be high.

Chapter Seven: Limitations, implications, future research directions and Conclusion

It is the last chapter for this research. This chapter mainly divided into two sections, the first section for the research conclusion and implications. This paragraph mainly discussed the contributes to retail research, such as how do retail researchers have a better understanding of the service delivery option and what problems do this research results help to solve. The second section is the statement of research limitations and future studying.

7.1. Conclusion and implications

This research aimed to identify whether providing delivery services in the physical store via a mobile phone application would affect purchase likelihood and behaviour. The results represent that a delivery option did not increase customer's purchase likelihood significantly, only marginally. However, the results show that it does influence customer purchase behaviour. For example, when physical retail store provides a delivery option, then some customers will change their behaviour from taking items home by themselves to using the delivery service.

The result also indicated that although the delivery option was provided via a technology device in the physical space, customers' perceived risk did not increase significantly. Besides, customers who choose the delivery option via mobile phone do not perceive higher risk than other customers who chose to take items home by themselves. In addition, customers perceive high value when the physical field provides a free and fast delivery service.

Based on the results and discussion of this research, it provides further understanding to retailers on whether it is necessary to provide delivery services or not. For general retail stores, providing a delivery service option can increase its value from customer perspectives. Besides, customers' perceived value has been found to be a major contributor to purchase intention (Chang & Wildt, 1994). In addition, Bhatnagar, Misra, and Rao (2000) indicated that the internet is seen as a risky proposition, and the risk outweighs the convenience that it offers. However, it was found that although the integration of technology and a delivery service does have risks, customers do not perceive a high risk when it is related to a physical space. Therefore, the managers of

physical retail outlets do not need to worry as much about consumers' perceptions of risk when considering whether to providing a delivery option to customers. However, the precondition is that the security of technology should be guaranteed. At the same time, retailers should guarantee the quality of delivery services, as many studies have proved that the quality of a delivery service has a direct effect on customers' satisfaction and customers repurchase intention. Based on prior research, the quality of delivery services is measured on the delivery charge, order accuracy delivery time, and the quality of delivered products. Each process should be monitored and well-maintained.

This research also provides insights to physical retailers on how the different types of customers will respond to a delivery option in a physical space via technological devices. It was found that being male, and people having a high level of income and being well educated will accept new technologies easier which is consistent with prior studies (Zeithaml & Gilly, 1987; Sim & Koi, 2002). In terms of younger people, this research generally believe that maybe those people who are more highly educated can see the benefits of using such a service or in terms of convenience, those people who are more educated and paid more tend to have less time to go grocery shopping, therefore being able to use a service delivery option would be more useful for them.

Therefore, when physical retailers are considering whether to provide delivery services integrated with technology, they can distinguish between their targeted customers types, and consider their targeted customers' acceptance level of use of technology.

With the changing of the retail environment, retailers must meet the demand of their customers better than their competitors to survive. As Sung (2015) stated customers increasingly see shopping as a pursuit of fun, enjoyment and happiness in both offline and online environments.

This research also provides theoretical implication for future studies that it did prove that delivery service can have effect on customers' purchase behaviors. Also, it also verified prior theory that highly educated people and younger people and male are more easily to choose the delivery option than others. Besides, it also provide theoretical implication for future studies that provide free and high quality delivery service can highly increase customers' perceived value.

7.2. Limitations and Future Research

In terms of the results, the research has several limitations that need to be considered. First, the sample of this study was conducted in the United States of America, it may be biased toward this group of people. Also, it may only reflect customer purchase likelihood and behaviour in this country because the demand for a delivery service is affected by many factors. For example, if almost every customer has a car, then their demand for a delivery service in a supermarket is probably much lower than customers who do not have cars. Second, the sample is limited and in demographic information analysis, the limited quantity may not fully reflect the truth. Third, as mentioned in the literature review section, there are several definitions and scales of customer perceived risk and perceived value, therefore the scales that were used in this research may not fully reflect and represent them. Fourth, regarding attitudes towards technology adoption, most other research studies of perceived ease of use and usefulness as factors that affect customers' attitude, however, this study focused only on the difference of customers' traits. The scales do not fully reflect the attitudes towards technology adoption. Also, it did not prove Aurier and N'Goala's (2010) study that a delivery service could be one of the main factors for building customers' trust and customers' willingness to purchase again as customers' thoughts after the purchase were not tested.

Fifth, the scenario condition setting is for free delivery for customers. The delivery cost is also an important factor that affects customers' purchase decisions. As Huang and Oppewal (2006) stated a delivery charge is one determinate of the choice of purchase channel. Sixth, the scenario condition setting is that delivery can be completed within 30 minutes which is an ideal assumption. And this ideal delivery time may also positively affect respondents' purchase decision.

The delivery time probably takes much longer and customers may consider and worry about it when making decisions about taking items home or using delivery options in our real life. As Huang and Oppewal (2006) stated the time available for shopping and travel time to a physical store influences consumers' purchasing channel preference. Lastly, the scenario condition is only located in supermarkets, however, different types of industry have different demands for delivery services. For example, a delivery service might not be strongly demanded by customers in a jewellery store because of the high value of the goods and the possible delivery risk. Therefore, these research results are not applicable for all the physical field areas, but only for general physical retail stores. For example, grocery store, supermarkets and clothing store. Service delivery and expectations around it can differ depending on the type of retailer or the category of products sold. Therefore, the current study contributes to the literature on retailing specifically in the grocery/supermarket context. Further studies could investigate across categories of products and store types (i.e., big box retailing, homeware, fashion). The last but not the least limitation is the scenario design. The first scenario put everyone who decided to purchase were classified as 'take items home directly' by default, whereas the second scenario divided 100 respondents into two conditions based on their selection. Respondents' answer for main dependent variable , i.e., no-purchase/purchase and take items home/ purchase and online delivery, are very limited. The data collected is skewed.

This research has provided direction for future research for a scenario condition setting that could be the luxury sector. For example, gemstone stores, luxury bags and physical jewellery stores, because high value, personal involvement and more complicated products are riskier than those products with fewer characteristics (Kaplan, Szybillo, & Jacoby, 1974; Laurent & Kapferer, 1985). For example, when customers would like to buy luxury products, they may not be willing to use a delivery service option because of the existing perceived risk. Once the problem is in the delivery process, the loss could be large and unacceptable. Besides, these participants of the online survey are all located in America, and reflects the demand and reactions of those people. Future research may consider customers from other countries such as comparing the data from people located in New Zealand (a developed country) with people located in India (a developing country). The characteristics of New Zealand is that it is a country where almost each family has cars and the delivery cost is high. The demand for a delivery service in the physical retail sector would be extremely low. The characteristics of India is that it is a country with a larger quantity of people and labor costs and delivery costs are low. The demand for a delivery service in some well-developed cities could be very high. It is difficult to know based on previous research, therefore this is an area ripe for exploration.

In addition, future research could study the effect of a delivery option in physical space on customers' purchase likelihood and behaviour without the requirement of technology devices (e.g. mobile phone). If there were two stores, one of them with a delivery option and the other one without, then the effect of a delivery option could be studied. Also as it was found that the more money customers spend, the heavier items could be, and the higher the demand for a delivery service. A possible direction for future research could be to study how several situational factors affect customers' decisions of whether to choose the physical store with a delivery option. For example, the situational conditions could be delivery charges, delivery time, the weight of the products and so on.

Furthermore, future research could improved the research questions and designs. A recommendation for future research is that it can include 'off-line delivery service with small fees' for no online delivery option, even though they are not comparable directly, the effect of new technology could be seen. For example, mobile online delivery, as opposed to old technology, i.g., offline delivery. Besides, future research can study the factors of delivery service that could affect customers' purchase behaviours. For example, specific delivery time, delivery charge and so on.

In conclusion, this chapter lists some limitations of this research, and also provides some future research directions and suggestions. This research tests the effects of a delivery service option on customers' purchase likelihood and behaviors in the physical retail sector. The results show that a delivery service option can marginally increase retail sales, but significantly affect the purchasing method. Furthermore, with providing a delivery service option in the physical retail sector, perceived value increased significantly, while perceived risk was scarcely changed. In addition, customers' attitudes towards technology adoption was seen to have an have effect on customer purchasing methods when providing a delivery service option integrated with technology devices.

References

- Adams, D. A., Nelson, R. R., & Todd, P. A. (1992). Perceived usefulness, ease of use, and usage of information technology: A replication. *MIS Quarterly*, 227-247.
- Armiger, S. B. (1977). Ethics of nursing research: Profile, principles, perspective. Nursing Research, 26(5), 330-336.
- Aurier, P., & N'Goala, G. (2010). The differing and mediating roles of trust and relationship commitment in service relationship maintenance and development. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 38(3), 303-325.

- Avery, J., Steenburgh, T. J., Deighton, J., & Caravella, M. (2012). Adding bricks to clicks: Predicting the patterns of cross-channel elasticities over time. *Journal of Marketing*, 76(3), 96-111.
- Baron, S., Harris, K., & Davies, B. J. (1996). Oral participation in retail service delivery: A comparison of the roles of contact personnel and customers. *European Journal of Marketing*, 30(9), 75-90
- Bauer, R. A. (1967)," consumer behaviour as risk taking", *Risk taking and information handling in consumer behaviour*, 23-33.
- Barach, J. A. (1969). Advertising effectiveness and risk in the consumer decision process. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 6(3), 314-320.
- Bloemer, J., De Ruyter, K. O., & Wetzels, M. (1999). Linking perceived service quality and service loyalty: A multi-dimensional perspective. *European Journal of Marketing*, 33(11/12), 1082-1106.
- Broniarczyk, S. M., & Griffin, J. G. (2014). Decision difficulty in the age of consumer empowerment. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 24(4), 608-625.
- Brown, S. W., & Swartz, T. A. (1989). A gap analysis of professional service quality. *Journal of Marketing*, 53(2), 92-98.
- Boatwright, P., & Nunes, J. C. (2001). Reducing assortment: An attribute-based approach. *Journal of marketing*, *65*(3), 50-63.
- Broniarczyk, S. M., Hoyer, W. D., & McAlister, L. (1998). Consumers' perceptions of the assortment offered in a grocery category: The impact of item reduction. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 35(2), 166-176.
- Beck, N., & Rygl, D. (2015). Categorization of multiple channel retailing in multi-, cross-, and Omni - Channel retailing for retailers and retailing. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 27, 170-178.
- Bennett, J. A. (2000). Mediator and moderator variables in nursing research: Conceptual and statistical differences. *Research in nursing & health*, *23*(5), 415-420.
- Berry, L.L. (1986). "Retail Businesses are Services Businesses", *Journal of Retailing*, 62(1), Spring, 3-6.
- Bienstock, C. C., Mentzer, J. T., & Bird, M. M. (1997). Measuring physical distribution service quality. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 25(1), 31.

- Bitner, M. J. (1990). Evaluating service encounters: The effects of physical surroundings and employee responses. *Journal of Marketing*, *54*(2), 69-82.
- Bianchi, C., & Andrews, L. (2012). Risk, trust, and consumer online purchasing behaviour: a Chilean perspective. *International Marketing Review*, 29(3), 253-275.
- Blut, M., Wang, C., & Schoefer, K. (2016). Factors influencing the acceptance of self-service technologies: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Service Research*, 19(4), 396-416.
- Brynjolfsson, E., Jeffrey, H.Y. and Rahman, S.M. (2013), "Competing in the age of omnichannel retailing", *MIT Sloan Management Review*, Vol. 54 No.4, pp. 23-29.
- Calder, B. J., Phillips, L. W., & Tybout, A. M. (1982). The concept of external validity. *Journal* of Consumer Research, 9(3), 240-244.
- Carmines, E. G., & Zeller, R. A. (1979). *Reliability and validity assessment* Sage publications. *Journal of marketing*, *56*(3), 55-68.
- Çelik, H. E., & Yilmaz, V. (2011). Extending the technology acceptance model for adoption of e-shopping by consumers in turkey. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 12(2), 152.
- Chang, T., & Wildt, A. R. (1994). Price, product information, and purchase intention: An empirical study. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 22*(1), 16-27.
- Chin, S., & Goh, Y. (2017). Consumer purchase intention toward online grocery shopping: View from Malaysia. *Global Business and Management Research*, 9(4s), 221-238.
- Curran, J. M., & Meuter, M. L. (2005). Self-service technology adoption: Comparing three technologies. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 19(2), 103-113.
- Cravens, D. W., Holland, C. W., Lamb Jr, C. W., & Moncrief III, W. C. (1988). Marketing's role in product and service quality. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 17(4), 285-304.
- Cunningham, M. S. (1967). The major dimensions of perceived risk. *Risk Taking and Information Handling in Consumer Behaviour. International journal of human-computer studies, 59(4),* 451-474.
- Chernev, A. (2003). When more is less and less is more: The role of ideal point availability and assortment in consumer choice. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 30(2), 170-183.
- Crosby, L. A., & Stephens, N. (1987). Effects of relationship marketing on satisfaction, retention, and prices in the life insurance industry. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 24(4), 404-411.
- Curran, J. M., Meuter, M. L., & Surprenant, C. F. (2003). Intentions to use self-service
technologies: A confluence of multiple attitudes. *Journal of Service Research*, *5*(3), 209-224.

- Dabholkar, P. A., Thorpe, D. I., & Rentz, J. O. (1996). A measure of service quality for retail stores: Scale development and validation. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 24(1), 3.
- Dabholkar, P. A., & Bagozzi, R. P. (2002). An attitudinal model of technology-based self-service: Moderating effects of consumer traits and situational factors. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 30(3), 184-201.
- Dardas, L. A., & Ahmad, M. M. (2015). For fathers raising children with autism, do coping strategies mediate or moderate the relationship between parenting stress and quality of life? *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 36, 620-629.
- D'Alessandro, S., Girardi, A., & Tiangsoongnern, L. (2012). Perceived risk and trust as antecedents of online purchasing behaviour in the USA gemstone industry. *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing and Logistics, 24*(3), 433-460.
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1989). User acceptance of computer technology: A comparison of two theoretical models. *Management Science*, *35*(8), 982-1003.
- Dodds, W. B., Monroe, K. B., & Grewal, D. (1991). Effects of price, brand, and store information on buyers' product evaluations. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 28(3), 307-319.
- Doherty, N. F., & Ellis-Chadwick, F. (2010). Internet retailing: The past, the present and the future. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 38(11/12), 943-965.
- Du, Z.Y., (2007). Problems in China's retail industry and its policy choices. *Economics and Management*, 21(10), 79-85.
- Dowling, G. R., & Staelin, R. (1994). A model of perceived risk and intended risk-handling activity. *Journal of consumer research*, *21*(1), 119-134.
- Duffy, M. E. (1985). Designing nursing research: the qualitative quantitative debate. *Journal* of Advanced Nursing, 10(3), 225-232.
- Dennis, C., Alamanos, E., Papagiannidis, S., & Bourlakis, M. (2016). Does social exclusion influence multiple channel use? the interconnections with community, happiness, and well-being. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(3), 1061-1070.
- Eastlick, M. A. (1996). Consumer intention to adopt interactive teleshopping. *Report-Marketing Science Institute Cambridge Massachusetts, Journal of service research, 7(3),* 213-233.

- Edelman, B. (2011). Adverse selection in online "trust" certifications and search results. *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 10*(1), 17-25.
- Esper, T. L., Jensen, T. D., Turnipseed, F. L., & Burton, S. (2003). The last mile: an examination of effects of online retail delivery strategies on consumers. *Journal of Business logistics*, 24(2), 177-203.
- Eid, M. I. (2011). Determinants of e-commerce customer satisfaction, trust, and loyalty in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 12(1), 78.
- Ellen, P. S., Bearden, W. O., & Sharma, S. (1991). Resistance to technological innovations: An examination of the role of self-efficacy and performance satisfaction. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 19(4), 297-307.
- Fasolo, B., Carmeci, F. A., & Misuraca, R. (2009). The effect of choice complexity on perception of time spent choosing: When choice takes longer but feels shorter. *Psychology & Marketing*, 26(3), 213-228.
- Festinger, L. (1957). A theory of cognitive dissonance Row. Peterson and Company. Social Justice Research 1, 107-125.
- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error: Algebra and statistics. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18, 382-388.
- Fouka, G., & Mantzorou, M. (2011). What are the major ethical issues in conducting research? is there a conflict between the research ethics and the nature of nursing? *Health Science Journal*, *5*(1)
- Grant, D. B., & Grant, D. B. (2006). Fundamentals of logistics management. *International Business Research*, 5(1), 194-207
- Gregory, J. (2015). The internet of things: Revolutionizing the retail industry. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 124,* 257-270
- Gil-Saura, I., Servera-Francés, D., & Fuentes-Blasco, M. (2010). Antecedents and consequences of logistics value: And empirical investigation in the Spanish market. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 39(3), 493-506.
- Gourville, J. T., & Soman, D. (2005). Over choice and assortment type: When and why variety backfires. *Marketing science*, *24*(3), 382-395.
- Guo Xinmei, & Zhang Jianli. (2014). The main models and countermeasures of online and offline. integration development of China's retail industry. *Journal of Beijing Technology and Business University: Social Science Edition, 29*(5), 44-48.

- Guseman, D. S. (1981). Risk perception and risk reduction in consumer services. *Marketing of Services*, 2(2),44
- Geyskens, I., Gielens, K., & Dekimpe, M. G. (2002). The market valuation of internet channel additions. *Journal of Marketing*, *66*(2), 102-119.
- Ha, H., & Janda, S. (2014). The effect of customized information on online purchase intentions. *Internet Research*, 24(4), 496-519.
- Han, M. C., & Kim, Y. (2017). Why consumers hesitate to shop online: Perceived risk and product involvement on Taobao. com. *Journal of Promotion Management*, 23(1), 24-44.
- Handfield, R. B., & Withers, B. (1993). A comparison of logistics management in Hungary, China, Korea, and Japan. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 14(1), 81.
- Hair Jr, J. F., Hult, G. T. M., Ringle, C., & Sarstedt, M. (2016). A primer on partial least squares structural equation modelling. Journal of the academy of marketing science, 43(1), 115-135.
- Hoover, R. J., Green, R. T., & Saegert, J. (1978). A cross-national study of perceived risk: Does perceived risk have the same effect on consumers in a foreign country as in the united states? Journal of Marketing, 42(3), 102-108.
- Hox, J. J., & Boeije, H. R. (2005). Data collection, primary versus secondary. *Journal of official statistics*, 21(5), 233-255.
- Hummel, J. W., & Savitt, R. (1988). Integrated customer service and retail strategy. *International Journal of Retailing*, *3*(2), 5-21.
- Hebert, M., & Benbasat, I. (1994). Adopting information technology in hospitals: The relationship. between attitudes/expectations and behaviour. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 39(3), 369.
- Huang, Y., & Oppewal, H. (2006). Why consumers hesitate to shop online: An experimental choice. analysis of grocery shopping and the role of delivery fees. *International Journal* of Retail & Distribution Management, 34(4/5), 334-353.
- Jacoby, J., & Kaplan, L. B. (1972). The components of perceived risk. *Decision support* systems, 44(2), 544-564
- Jum, N. (1978). Psychometric theory, Journal of retailing, 64(1), 12
- Johns, R. (2010). Survey question bank: Methods fact sheet 1, *Management in education* 25, no. 4 (2011): 163-174

- Johnson, C. A., Leaver, S., & Yuen, E. H. (2004). Multichannel retailing best practices. *Distribution and Consumer Research*, *17(2)*, *139-158*.
- Johnson, E. J., Shu, S. B., Dellaert, B. G., Fox, C., Goldstein, D. G., Häubl, G., Schkade, D. (2012). Beyond nudges: Tools of a choice architecture. *Marketing Letters*, 23(2), 487-504.
- Jarvenpaa, S. L., Tractinsky, N., & Saarinen, L. (1999). Consumer trust in an Internet store: A cross-cultural validation. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 5(2), 25-26.
- Jarvenpaa, S. L., Tractinsky, N., & Vitale, M. (2000). Consumer trust in an internet store. *Information Technology and Management, 1*(1-2), 45-71.
- Kahn, B. E., & Isen, A. M. (1993). The influence of positive affect on variety seeking among safe, enjoyable products. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20(2), 257-270.
- Kaplan, L. B., Szybillo, G. J., & Jacoby, J. (1974). Components of perceived risk in product purchase: A cross-validation. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 59(3), 287.
- Kim, C., Li, W., & Kim, D. J. (2015). An empirical analysis of factors influencing M-shopping use. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 31(12), 974-994.
- Kim, J., Cui, Y. G., Jang, S., Spence, M. T., & Park, J. (2019). Response to themes and lamer (2019) regarding mediation analysis revisited. *Australasian Marketing Journal*, 12(1),3-6
- Kim, J., Hwang, E., Phillips, M., Jang, S., Kim, J., Spence, M. T., & Park, J. (2018). Mediation analysis revisited: Practical suggestions for addressing common deficiencies. *Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ)*, 26(1), 59-64.
- Kelley, C. A., & Conant, J. S. (1991). Extended warranties: Consumer and manufacturer perceptions. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 25(1), 68-83.
- King, B. E., & Penlesky, R. J. (1992). Impediments to timely delivery of new products at an industrial products firm. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 12(10), 56-65.
- Kim, D. J., Ferrin, D. L., & Rao, H. R. (2008). A trust-based consumer decision-making model in electronic commerce: The role of trust, perceived risk, and their antecedents. *Decision Support Systems*, 44(2), 544-564.
- Kim, Y. H., Yu, R., Kulik, S. P., Shih, Y., & Scully, M. O. (2000). Delayed "choice" quantum eraser. *Physical Review Letters*, 84(1), 1.
- Kogan, N., & Wallach, M. A. (1964). Risk taking: A study in cognition and personality. *Academy of management Review*, 21(1), 135-172.

- Koufaris, M. (2002). Applying the technology acceptance model and flow theory to online consumer behaviour. *Information Systems Research*, *13*(2), 205-223.
- Iyengar, S. S., & Lepper, M. R. (2000). When choice is demotivating: Can one desire too much of a good thing? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *79*(6), 995.
- Laurent, G., & Kapferer, J. (1985). Measuring consumer involvement profiles. *Journal of Marketing. Research.*, 22(1), 41-53.
- Littler, D., & Melanthiou, D. (2006). Consumer perceptions of risk and uncertainty and the implications for behaviour towards innovative retail services: the case of internet banking. *Journal of retailing and consumer services*, *13*(6), 431-443.
- Lewis, W. F. (1976). An empirical investigation of the conceptual relationship between services and. products in terms of perceived risk. European Journal of marketing, 33(1/2), 163-195.
- Lipowski, Z. J. (1970). The conflict of burden's ass or some dilemmas of affluence: The theory of attractive stimulus overload. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *127*(3), 273-279.
- Levesque, T., & McDougall, G. H. (1996). Determinants of customer satisfaction in retail banking. International journal of bank marketing, 14(7), 12-20.
- Levin, A. M., Levin, I. R., & Heath, C. E. (2003). Product category dependent consumer preferences for online and offline shopping features and their influence on multi-channel retail alliances. J. Electron. Commerce RES., 4(3), 85-93.
- Legris, P., Ingham, J., & Collerette, P. (2003). Why do people use information technology? A critical review of the technology acceptance model. *Information & Management, 40*(3), 191-204.
- Li, N., & Zhang, P. (2002). Consumer online shopping attitudes and behaviour: An assessment of research. *AMCIS 2002 Proceedings*, 74.
- Lovelock, C. (2001), Services marketing, Forth Edition, Practice-Hall
- Ma, S. (2017). Fast or free shipping options in online and Omni-channel retail? The mediating role of uncertainty on satisfaction and purchase intentions. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 28(4), 1099-1122.
- Mehmood, S. M., & Najmi, A. (2017). Understanding the impact of service convenience on customer. satisfaction in home delivery: Evidence from Pakistan. *International Journal* of Electronic Customer Relationship Management, 11(1), 23-43.

- Mentzer, J. T., Gomes, R., & Krapfel, R. E. (1989). Physical distribution service: A fundamental marketing concept? *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 17(1), 53-62.
- Meuter, M. L., Bitner, M. J., Ostrom, A. L., & Brown, S. W. (2005). Choosing among alternative service delivery modes: An investigation of customer trial of self-service technologies. *Journal of Marketing*, 69(2), 61-83.
- Meuter, M. L., Ostrom, A. L., Roundtree, R. I., & Bitner, M. J. (2000). Self-service technologies: Understanding customer satisfaction with technology-based service encounters. *Journal of Marketing*, 64(3), 50-64.
- Mitchell, V., & Boustani, P. (2015). The effects of demographic variables on measuring perceived risk. Paper presented at the *Proceedings of the 1993 Academy of Marketing Science (AMS) Annual Conference*, 663-669.
- Miyazaki, A. D., & Fernandez, A. (2000). Internet privacy and security: An examination of online. retailer disclosures. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, *19*(1), 54-61.
- Murray, K. B., & Schlacter, J. L. (1990). The impact of services versus goods on consumers' assessment of perceived risk and variability. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 18(1), 51-65.
- Mick, D. G., & Fournier, S. (1998). Paradoxes of technology: Consumer cognizance, emotions, and. coping strategies. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 25(2), 123-143.
- Mitchell, V. (1998). A role for consumer risk perceptions in grocery retailing. *British Food Journal*, *100*(4), 171-183.
- Mentzer, J. T., & Williams, L. R. (2001). The role of logistics leverage in marketing strategy. *Journal of Marketing Channels*, 8(3-4), 29-47.
- McGoldrick, P. J., & Collins, N. (2007). Multichannel retailing: Profiling the multichannel shopper. *International Review of Retail, Distribution and Consumer Research, 17*(2), 139-158.
- Meuter, M. L., Bitner, M. J., Ostrom, A. L., & Brown, S. W. (2005). Choosing among alternative service delivery modes: An investigation of customer trial of self-service technologies. *Journal of marketing*, 69(2), 61-83.
- Nagarkoti, B. (2014). Factors influencing consumer behaviour of smartphone users. *Journal of Life Economics*, *3*(1), 23-42.
- Niu L.Q., (2017). Logistics Transformation in the New Retail Era. *New Economic Guide*, (4), 17-21.

- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2014). How smart, connected products are transforming competition. *Harvard Business Review*, 92(11), 64-88.
- Peter, J. P., & Tarpey Sr, L. X. (1975). A comparative analysis of three consumer decision strategies. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 2(1), 29-37.
- Parasuraman, A. (2000). Technology readiness index (TRI) a multiple-item scale to measure readiness to embrace new technologies. *Journal of Service Research*, 2(4), 307-320.
- Parasuraman, A., & Grewal, D. (2000). The impact of technology on the quality-value-loyalty chain: A research agenda. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 28*(1), 168-174.
- Preacher, K. J., & Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behaviour research methods*, 40(3), 879-891.
- Plouffe, C. R., Vandenbosch, M., & Hulland, J. (2001). Intermediating technologies and multi group adoption: a comparison of consumer and merchant adoption intentions toward a new electronic payment system. *Journal of Product Innovation Management:* An international publication of the product development& management association, 18(2), 65-81.
- Rabinovich, E., & Bailey, J. P. (2004). Physical distribution service quality in internet retailing: Service pricing, transaction attributes, and firm attributes. *Journal of Operations Management*, 21(6), 651-672.
- Rao, S., Goldsby, T. J., Griffis, S. E., & Iyengar, D. (2011). Electronic logistics service quality (e - LSQ): Its impact on the customer's purchase satisfaction and retention. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 32(2), 167-179.
- Roy, S. K., Balaji, M. S., Sadeque, S., Nguyen, B., & Melewar, T. C. (2017). Constituents and consequences of smart customer experience in retailing. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 124, 257-270.
- Ren, B. H., & Dong, X. (2013). The Study on Self-built Logistics System of Electronic Commerce Enterprise: 360buy as a Case [J]. Logistics Sci-Tech, 1, 104-108.
- Rigby, D. (2011). The future of shopping. Harvard Business Review, 89(12), 65-76.
- Santos, J. (2003). E-service quality: A model of virtual service quality dimensions. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal, 13*(3), 233-246.
- Schramm-Klein, H. (2003). Multi-channel-retailing. Distribution and Consumer Research, 17(2), 139-158.

- Shih, C., & Venkatesh, A. (2004). Beyond adoption: Development and application of a use-diffusion model. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(1), 59-72.
- Schwartz, B., & Ward, A. (2004). Doing better but feeling worse: The paradox of choice. *Positive. Psychology in Practice*, 86-104.
- Spence, H. E., Engel, J. F., & Blackwell, R. D. (1970). Perceived risk in mail-order and retail store. buying. Journal of Marketing Research, 7(3), 364-369.
- Stone, R. N., & Grønhaug, K. (1993). Perceived risk: Further considerations for the marketing. discipline. European Journal of Marketing, 27(3), 39-50.
- Sim, L. L., & Koi, S. M. (2002). Singapore's internet shoppers and their impact on traditional. shopping patterns. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 9(2), 115-124.
- Schwartz, B. (2004, January). The paradox of choice: Why more is less. New York: Ecco.
- Swait, J., & Sweeney, J. C. (2000). Perceived value and its impact on choice behaviour in a retail setting. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 7(2), 77-88.
- Tarn, J. L. (1999). The effects of service quality, perceived value and customer satisfaction on behavioural intentions. *Journal of Hospitality & Leisure Marketing*, 6(4), 31-43.
- Tam, J. L. (2004). Customer satisfaction, service quality and perceived value: An integrative model. *Journal of Marketing Management*, 20(7-8), 897-917.
- Thompson, B. (2007). Factor analysis. *The Blackwell Encyclopaedia of Sociology*, *34*(6),806-808
- Thompson, P., DeSouza, G., & Gale, B. T. (1985). The strategic management of service quality. *Quality Progress, 18*(6), 20-25.
- Ting, M., Goh, Y., & Isa, S. M. (2016). Determining consumer purchase intentions toward counterfeit luxury goods in Malaysia. Asia Pacific Management Review, 21(4), 219-230.
- To, P., & Sung, E. (2015). Internet shopping: A study based on hedonic value and flow theory. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, International Journal of Social, Behavioural, Educational, Economic, Business and Industrial Engineering, 9(7), 2221-2224.
- Venkatraman, S., Aloysius, J. A., & Davis, F. D. (2006). Multiple prospect framing and decision behaviour: The mediational roles of perceived riskiness and perceived ambiguity. Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes, 101(1), 59-73.

- Verhoef, P. C., Kannan, P. K., & Inman, J. J. (2015). From multi-channel retailing to omni-channel retailing: Introduction to the special issue on multi-channel retailing. *Journal of Retailing*, 91(2), 174-181.
- Wang, X., & Zhang, Q. (2013). Research on online and offline marketing synergy of multi-channel Retailers—Case study on sunning. *Journal of Business Economics*, (9), 6.
- Wessling, K. S., Huber, J., & Netzer, O. (2017). MTurk character misrepresentation: Assessment and solutions. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 44(1), 211-230.
- Wilding, R. (2013). Multichannel or omni-channel? Logistics and Transport Focus, 15(10), 44.
- Williamson, K. C., Spitzer Jr, D. M., & Bloomberg, D. J. (1990). Modern logistics systems: Theory and practice. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 11(2), 65.
- World Economic Forum. (2018). Delivering the Goods: E-commerce Logistics Transformation. Retrieved from: http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Delivering_Goods_E_commerce_logistics_transfo rmation report 2018.pdf
- Xia, L., & Monroe, K. B. (2004). Price partitioning on the internet. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 18(4), 63-73.
- Yazdanparast, A., Manuj, I., & Swartz, S. M. (2010). Co-creating logistics value: A service-dominant logic perspective. *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, 21(3), 375-403.
- Yang, Z., & Peterson, R. T. (2004). Customer perceived value, satisfaction, and loyalty: The role of switching costs. *Psychology & Marketing*, 21(10), 799-822.
- Yrjölä, M., Saarijärvi, H., & Nummela, H. (2018). The value propositions of multi-, cross-, and omni-channel retailing. *International Journal of Retail & Distribution Management*, 46(11/12), 1133-1152.
- Yu, K. E. (2009). The research of logistical actual problems and tactics. *I Business*, 1(01), 25.
- Tavakol, M., & Dennick, R. (2011). Making sense of Cronbach's alpha. International journal of medical education, 2, 53.
- Zeithaml, V. A. (1988). Consumer perceptions of price, quality, and value: A means-end model and synthesis of evidence. *Journal of Marketing*, *52*(3), 2–22.
- Zeithaml, V. A., & Gilly, M. C. (1987). Characteristics affecting the acceptance of retailing

technologies: A comparison of elderly and nonelderly consumers. *Journal of Retailing*, 53-55

- Zheng. S.R., (2010). The Scientific perspective of modern retail industry from Informa ionization to intelligence. *Science and Technology Management Research*, 30(20), 281-241.
- Zhao Ying. (2017). Research on the development and countermeasures of O2O e-commerce in traditional retail enterprises under the background of transformation. *Business Economics Research*, (3), 90-92.

Appendix A Ethics Committee (AUTEC)



Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee (AUTEC)

Auckland University of Technology D-88, Private Bag 92006, Auckland 1142, NZ T: +64 9 921 9999 ext. 8316 E: <u>ethics@aut.ac.nz</u> www.aut.ac.nz/researchethics 15 November 2018

Megan Phillips Faculty of Business Economics and Law

Dear Megan

Ethics Application:

18/421 How technology options in the retail space can influence shoppers purchase likelihood

I wish to advise you that a subcommittee of the Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee (AUTEC) has **approved** your ethics application.

This approval is for three years, expiring 15 November 2021.

Non-Standard Conditions of Approval

- 1. Be consistent with the targeted number of respondents is it 100 as per C.3.2, or 60 as described in K. 6.1.
- 2. A careful review of the Information Sheet and survey for clarity of expression and typographical errors.
- 3. Change question nine in the survey from 'gender' to 'sex'.

Non-standard conditions must be completed before commencing your study. Non-standard conditions do not need to be submitted to or reviewed by AUTEC before commencing your study.

Standard Conditions of Approval

- 1. A progress report is due annually on the anniversary of the approval date, using form EA2, which is available online through <a href="http://www.aut.ac.nz/research/researc
- 2. A final report is due at the expiration of the approval period, or, upon completion of project, using form EA3, which is available online through <u>http://www.aut.ac.nz/research/researchethics.</u>
- 3. Any amendments to the project must be approved by AUTEC prior to being implemented. Amendments can be requested using the EA2 form: <u>http://www.aut.ac.nz/research/researchethics</u>.
- 4. Any serious or unexpected adverse events must be reported to AUTEC Secretariat as a matter of priority.
- 5. Any unforeseen events that might affect continued ethical acceptability of the project should also be reported to the AUTEC Secretariat as a matter of priority.

Please quote the application number and title on all future correspondence related to this project.

AUTEC grants ethical approval only. If you require management approval for access for your research from another institution or organisation, then you are responsible for obtaining it. If the research is undertaken outside New Zealand, you need to meet all locality legal and ethical obligations and requirements. You are reminded that it is your responsibility to ensure that the spelling and grammar of documents being provided to participants or external organisations is of a high standard.

Yours sincerely,

ouno

Kate O' Connor Executive Manager Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee Cc: znw6272@autuni.ac.nz; Jungkeun Kim

Appendix B Participant Information Sheet

Date Information Sheet Produced:

01/11/2018

Project Title

The impact of a delivery option in a physical retail space on shopper likelihood

An Invitation

My name is Derek (LiFanLong). I am a Master of Business student from Auckland University of Technology. I invite you to participate in my research, "How the number of purchasing options in the retail space influence on shopper purchase likelihood." This research will contribute as partial credit towards the completion of my Master of Business qualification. Your participation in this research is entirely voluntary. Your participation will be anonymous as no personal knowledge, location or IP address will be obtained for this research.

What is the purpose of this research?

This research plans to investigate how the availability of the number of technologies purchasing options at the retailer can bring negative effects to the shoppers purchase likelihood. Specifically, how the purchasing of a new option can affect the individual's decision in a retail setting. How does adding a multi options to the physical retail space influence shoppers' likelihood of purchase?

This proposed research will answer and test the following research questions: What negative impact does add a new purchase option to the physical retail environment have on shopper's likelihood to purchase? Do customers suffer by choice overload issues? Do customers purchase more items because of new purchasing option?

How was I identified and why am I being invited to participate in this research?

You were identified because you are an Amazon Mturk panel member. To be included in this research you need to be over the age of 18 and a United States citizen.



How do I agree to participate in this research?

Your participation in this research is voluntary (it is your choice) and whether you choose to participate will neither advantage nor disadvantage you. Active participation in the survey means that you agree to take part in the research. If you feel uncomfortable at any stage of the investigation, you may stop doing the study. You do not have to answer any questions. No personal information will be collected regarding the participants. The researcher will not be able to connect any information provided during the survey to the individual participant who gave the information. The researcher will not have any knowledge regarding anyone who has taken part in the study. Information provided by participants cannot be excluded from the survey once the survey is complete.

What will happen in this research?

The research takes roughly five minutes to complete. You will be asked to read the have different purchasing options supermarkets scenarios and respond to each question. Consent for participation in this research will be completion of the survey questionnaire.

What are the discomforts and risks?

This process should not post any discomfort or risk to you. I am not collecting your personal name or workplace, so you will never be personally identified. You will be totally anonymous-and your anonymity will not be compromised. Overall, your responses will be added to other employees from the United states and be analysed at the aggregate level only.

How will these discomforts and risks be alleviated?

If you do not feel comfortable during the research, you may discontinue involvement in this survey at any time. Moreover, you do not have to answer any questions if you do not wish to.

What are the benefits?

This research will build on previous research about added new options in retails shops could negatively effect on the customers the percentage of purchasing. Participants might enjoy the opportunity to participate in an academic research project which will contribute to my Master of Business qualification.

How will my privacy be protected?

As stated above, responses are anonymous and all information pertaining to you will be kept confidential and data will be stored in a locked file at AUT. No one other that the researchers will have access to this information.

How do I agree to participant in this research?

Completing the online questionnaire will be taken as consent to participate.

What are the costs of participating in this research?

Cost is 5 minutes of your time.

What opportunity do I have to consider this invitation?

You will be given three weeks to consider this invitation.

Will I receive feedback on the results of this research?

We will send you a synopsis of the results at your request. So, if you want to find out the results of this research, please send an email to Megan Phillips, <u>megan.phillips@aut.ac.nz</u> or Jungkeun Kim, jkkim@aut.ac.nz.

What do I do if I have concerns about this research?

Any concerns regarding the nature of this project should be notified in the first instance to the Project Supervisor, Dr Megan Phillips, email: <u>megan.phillips@aut.ac.nz</u>, phone: +64 9 921 9999 ext. 5428.

Concerns regarding the conduct of the research should be notified to the Executive Secretary of AUTEC, Kate O'Connor, ethics@aut.ac.nz, 921 9999 ext. 6038.

Whom do I contact for further information about this research?

Please keep this Information Sheet and a copy of the Consent Form for your future reference. You are also able to contact the research team as follows:

Researcher Contact Details:

Derek Li (LiFanLong), email: znw6572@autuni.ac.nz,

phone: +64 21 185 5318 **Project Supervisor Contact Details**: Dr Megan Phillips, email: megan.phillips@aut.ac.nz, phone: +64 9 921 9999 ext. 5428.

Approved by the Auckland University of Technology Ethics Committee on

15 November 2018, AUTEC Reference number 18/421

Appendix C (Questionnaire)

Delivery purchasing option in retail stores

Start of Block: Scenario with questions

Scenario 1 Imagine that you are purchasing several items at a grocery store. The store only provides you with one option for payment and delivery: to pay for the items in the store and bring them home with you.

Q1 How likely are you to purchase items from this grocery store?

- Yes Purchase items in-store to carry home with you
- O No Do not purchase items

Scenario 2 Imagine that you are purchasing several items at a grocery store. The store only provides you with two options for payment and delivery: to pay for the items and bring them home with you, or alternatively purchase the items in-store via your mobile phone and have them delivered to your home. The delivery fee is free and the delivery can be completed within 30 minutes.

Q2 How likely are you to purchase items from this grocery store?

- Yes Purchase items in-store to carry home with you
- Yes Purchase in-store via mobile to be delivered to your home
- O No Do not purchase

End of Block: Scenario with questions

For the following questions, please consider the hypothetical scenario and the purchase option you have just selected.

Q3 What are the chances that you stand to lose money if you try this method of payment? (please indicate your answer on the scale below)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
low chance of losing money	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	High chance of losing money

Q4 What is the likelihood that there will be something wrong with this method of payment or that it will not work properly?

	1		2			3			4			5			6		7	7						
low functional risk		0	(0		$\left(\right)$)		(\supset		(С		С)		С)	fi	H un 1	Hig cti ris	gh on k	al
			 		 -		_	-	 		 			-	 		 	-			-			

Q5 What are the chances that this method of payment may not be safe?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Very safe	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	0	Very unsafe

Q6 What are the chances that this method of payment will not fit in well with your self-image or self-concept? (The term self-concept is a general term used to refer to

how someone thinks about, evaluates or perceives themselves).



Q7 What are the chances that this method of payment will affect the way others think of you?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Low social risk	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	High social risk

Q8 On the whole, considering all sorts of factors combined, about how risky would you say it was to buy with this method of payment?

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Not risk at all	0	0	0	0	\bigcirc	0	0	Extremely risk

End of Block: Perceived risk

Start of Block: Perceived Value

For the following questions, please consider the hypothetical scenario and the purchase option you have just selected. (1= Extremely Disagree 7= Extremely Agree)

Q9 The store provides attractive services.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Extremely Agree

Q10 The store provides more free services.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	Extremely Agree

Q11 The store provides me with good value.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Extremely Agree

Q12 Please indicate how the perceived value of this grocery store to you would change as with adding delivery option via mobile phone. (1= would change extremely negative; 4= would not change at all; 7= would change extremely positive)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Negative	\bigcirc	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	Extremely positive

End of Block: Perceived Value

Start of Block: Perceived ease of use mobile purchasing option

Below questions is about your personal attitude towards adoption of new technology and can be justified based on your own experience and knowledge.

Q14 For me, the cost in time, effort and grief to switch payment methods is high.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	\bigcirc	0	0	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	Extremely Agree

Q15 I have avoided technology because it is unfamiliar to me.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	\bigcirc	0	0	Extremely Agree

Q16 It bothers me to use a machine or app when I could talk to a live person instead.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Extremely Agree

Q17 I do not have much experience using the new technology. (e.g. Mobile shopping)

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
Extremely Disagree	0	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	0	Extremely Agree

End of Block: Perceived ease of use mobile purchasing option

Q16 What is your sex?

- O Male
- O Female

Q17 What is your age?

- O Under 18 years old
- 18 24 years old
- O 25 34 years old
- O 35 44 years old
- 45 54 years old
- 55 64 years old
- O 65 74 years old
- 75 84 years old
- O 85 or older

Q18 Which of the following is most appropriate to describe your social roles?

- O Employed full time
- O Employed part time
- O Unemployed looking for work
- O Unemployed not looking for work
- O Retired
- O Student
- O Disabled

Q19 What is your highest education degree?

- O Less than high school
- O High school graduate
- O Some college
- O 2-year degree
- 4-year degree
- O Professional degree
- Doctorate

Q20 Please select your Socioeconomic status (average net income level per year)

- O Less than \$10,000
- \$10,000 \$19,999
- \$20,000 \$29,999
- \$30,000 \$39,999
- \$40,000 \$49,999
- \$50,000 \$59,999
- \$60,000 \$69,999
- \$70,000 \$79,999
- \$80,000 \$89,999
- \$90,000 \$99,999
- \$100,000 \$149,999

\bigcirc	More	than	\$150	,000
			+	,

Q21 Are you the main decision household shopper?

- O Yes
- O Maybe
- O No

Q22 How often do you go grocery shopping?

- \circ Two weeks for one time
- $\circ \quad \text{Once a week} \\$
- o Twice a week

Q23 how much do you often spend for one-time shopping?

- \circ Less than \$10
- o **\$10-\$50**
- o \$51**-**\$100
- o \$100-\$150
- o \$150-\$200
- \circ More than \$250